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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue $ 40,036 28,080
Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) 1,665 1,356

Selling and marketing expense 27,449 17,255

General and administrative expense 6,133 6,556

Product development 1,932 1,205

Depreciation 755 885

Amortization of intangibles 28 43

Restructuring and severance 202 )

Litigation settlements and contingencies 7,707 1,028
Total costs and expenses 45,871 28,326
Operating loss (5,835) (246)
Other income (expense):

Interest expense — 7
Loss before income taxes (5,835) (253)
Income tax benefit (expense) 1 (20)
Net loss from continuing operations (5,834) (273)
Discontinued operations:

Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — 98

Loss from operations of discontinued operations, net of tax (574) (2,542)
Loss from discontinued operations (574) (2,444)
Net loss $ (6,408) (2,717)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 11,142 10,967

Diluted 11,142 10,967
Net loss per share from continuing operations:

Basic $ (0.52) (0.02)

Diluted $ (0.52) (0.02)
Net loss per share from discontinued operations:

Basic $ (0.05) (0.22)

Diluted $ (0.05) (0.22)
Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders:

Basic $ (0.58) (0.25)

Diluted $ (0.58) (0.25)

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except par value and share amounts)

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
(Unaudited)

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 89,499 91,667

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 24,062 26,017

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $544 and $408, respectively 13,373 12,850

Prepaid and other current assets 1,611 1,689

Current assets of discontinued operations 527 521
Total current assets 129,072 132,744
Property and equipment, net 5,652 5,344
Goodwill 3,632 3,632
Intangible assets, net 10,656 10,684
Other non-current assets 103 111
Non-current assets of discontinued operations 100 129
Total assets 149,215 152,644
LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable, trade 1,387 4,881

Deferred revenue 25 49

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 31,200 23,265

Current liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 14) 31,905 32,004
Total current liabilities 64,517 60,199
Other non-current liabilities 210 334
Deferred income taxes 4,849 4,849
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations 306 254
Total liabilities 69,882 65,636
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Preferred stock $.01 par value; authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued or outstanding — —

Common stock $.01 par value; authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued 12,675,487 and 12,619,835 shares,

respectively, and outstanding 11,306,555 and 11,250,903 shares, respectively 127 126

Additional paid-in capital 905,880 907,148

Accumulated deficit (813,941) (807,533)

Treasury stock 1,368,932 and 1,368,932 shares, respectively (12,733) (12,733)
Total shareholders' equity 79,333 87,008
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 149,215 152,644

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Common Stock

Treasury Stock

Additional
Number Paid-in Accumulated Number
Total of Shares Amount Capital Deficit of Shares Amount
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 87,008 12,620 $ 126 $ 907,148 $ (807,533) 1,369 $ (12,733)
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 (6,408) — — — (6,408) — —
Comprehensive loss $ (6,408)
Non-cash compensation 1,618 — — 1,618 — — —
Dividends () — — ®) — — —
Net-share settlement of stock-based
compensation, net of issuance of
common stock upon stock option
exercise (2,877) 55 1 (2,878) — — —
Balance as of March 31, 2014 $ 79,333 12,675 $ 127 $ 905,880 $ (813,941) 1,369 $ (12,733)

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities attributable to continuing operations:
Net loss (6,408) $ (2,717)
Less: Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 574 2,444
Net loss from continuing operations (5,834) (273)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuing operations to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities attributable to continuing operations:
Loss on disposal of fixed assets — 24
Amortization of intangibles 28 43
Depreciation 755 885
Non-cash compensation expense 1,616 1,433
Deferred income taxes 8 18
Bad debt expense 186 29
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (969) (2,085)
Prepaid and other current assets (576) (2,348)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,520 (2,520)
Income taxes payable 658 (430)
Deferred revenue (24) (6)
Other, net (115) (186)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities attributable to continuing operations 244 (5,416)
Cash flows from investing activities attributable to continuing operations:
Capital expenditures (1,069) (587)
Decrease in restricted cash 1,954 386
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities attributable to continuing operations 885 (201)
Cash flows from financing activities attributable to continuing operations:
Payments related to net-share settlement of stock-based compensation, net of proceeds from exercise of stock
options (2,877) (671)
Dividends (81) —
Net cash used in financing activities attributable to continuing operations (2,958) (671)
Total cash used in continuing operations (1,829) (6,288)
Net cash used in operating activities attributable to discontinued operations (339) (576)
Total cash used in discontinued operations (339) (576)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,168) (6,864)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 91,667 80,190
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 89,499 $ 73,326

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION

Company Overview

Tree.com, Inc. ("Tree.com" or the "Company") is the parent of LendingTree, LLC, which owns several brands and businesses that provide information,
tools, advice, products and services for critical transactions in consumers' lives. Its family of brands includes: LendingTree®, GetSmart®, LendingTree
Autos®M, LendingTree EducationS™, LendingTree Home ProsSM and InsuranceTreee. Together, these brands serve as an ally for consumers who are looking
to comparison-shop for loans, education programs, home services providers and other services from multiple businesses and professionals that will compete
for their business.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tree.com and all its wholly-owned entities. Intercompany transactions and accounts have
been eliminated.

Discontinued Operations

The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstate.com, REALTORS® (which together represent the former Real Estate segment) and LendingTree Loans
are presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for all
periods presented. The notes accompanying these consolidated financial statements reflect our continuing operations and, unless otherwise noted, exclude
information related to the discontinued operations.

Real Estate

On March 10, 2011, management made the decision and finalized a plan to close all of the field offices of the proprietary full-service real estate
brokerage business known as RealEstate.com, REALTORSe. The Company exited all markets in which it previously operated by March 31, 2011. In
September 2011, the remaining assets of RealEstate.com were sold, which consisted primarily of internet domain names and trademarks, for $8.3 million and
recognized a gain on sale of $7.8 million.

LendingTree Loans

On May 12, 2011, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Discover Bank ("Discover"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Discover
Financial Services, as amended on February 7, 2012, for the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of its LendingTree Loans business. The sale was
completed on June 6, 2012.

The asset purchase agreement as amended provided for a purchase price of approximately $55.9 million in cash for the assets, subject to certain
conditions. Of this total purchase price, $8.0 million was paid prior to the closing, $37.9 million was paid upon the closing and the contingent amount of
$10.0 million was paid and recognized as a gain from sale of discontinued operations in the second quarter of 2013.

Discover generally did not assume liabilities of the LendingTree Loans business that arose before the closing date, except for certain liabilities directly
related to assets Discover acquired. Of the purchase price paid, as of March 31, 2014, $18.1 million is being held in escrow pending resolution of certain
actual and/or contingent liabilities that remain with the Company following the sale. The escrowed amount is recorded as restricted cash at March 31, 2014.

Separate from the asset purchase agreement, Tree.com agreed to provide certain marketing-related services to Discover in connection with its mortgage
origination business for approximately seventeen months following the closing, or such earlier point as the agreed-upon services are satisfactorily completed.
The services were satisfactorily completed in the second quarter of 2013. Discover remains a network lender on the Company's mortgage exchange following
completion of the services.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2014 and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial
information and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). In the opinion of management, the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements, and include all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position for the periods presented. The results for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2014, or any
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

other period. The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013 was derived from audited financial statements included in our annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 Form 10-K"). These consolidated financial statements do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by GAAP for annual financial statements. Accordingly, they should be read in conjunction with the audited financial
statements and notes thereto included in the 2013 Form 10-K.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Estimates

Management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
GAAP. These estimates and assumptions impact the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date
of the consolidated financial statements. They also impact the reported amount of net earnings during any period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Significant estimates underlying the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including discontinued operations, include: loan loss obligations;
the recoverability of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets; the determination of income taxes payable and deferred income taxes, including related
valuation allowances; restructuring reserves; various other allowances, reserves and accruals; and assumptions related to the determination of stock-based
compensation.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

Tree.com's business is subject to certain risks and concentrations including dependence on third-party technology providers, exposure to risks associated
with online commerce security and credit card fraud.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk at March 31, 2014, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable, as disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet. Cash and cash equivalents are in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
insurance limits, but are maintained with quality financial institutions of high credit. The Company generally requires certain network lenders to maintain
security deposits with the Company, which in the event of non-payment, would be applied against any accounts receivable outstanding.

Due to the nature of the mortgage lending industry, interest rate increases may negatively impact future revenue from the Company's lender network.

Lenders participating on the Company's lender network can offer their products directly to consumers through brokers, mass marketing campaigns or
through other traditional methods of credit distribution. These lenders can also offer their products online, either directly to prospective borrowers, through
one or more online competitors, or both. If a significant number of potential consumers are able to obtain loans from participating lenders without utilizing
the Company's service, its ability to generate revenue may be limited. Because the Company does not have exclusive relationships with the lenders whose
loan offerings are offered on its online marketplace, consumers may obtain offers and loans from these lenders without using its service.

The Company maintains operations solely in the United States.
Litigation Settlements and Contingencies

Litigation settlements and contingencies consists of expenses related to actual or anticipated litigation settlements, in addition to legal fees incurred in
connection with various patent litigation claims the Company pursues against others.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recently issued accounting pronouncements that were adopted during the quarter ended March 31, 2014 or that are expected to impact the
Company's consolidated financial statements.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 3—RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Cash in escrow for surety bonds $ 2,453 $ 2,453
Cash in escrow for corporate purchasing card program 400 400
Cash in escrow for sale of LendingTree Loans 18,118 18,117
Cash in escrow for earnout related to an acquisition @) — 1,956
Cash restricted for loan loss obligations 3,051 3,051
Other 40 40
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 24,062 $ 26,017

(a) During the first quarter of 2014, the Company reached and executed a settlement with the disputing party on the earnout related to an acquisition,
upon which $2.0 million of cash previously held in escrow was released, of which $1.0 million was paid out to the disputing party. This settlement
had no impact on the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

NOTE 4—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The balance of goodwill and intangible assets, net is as follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Goodwill $ 486,720 $ 486,720
Accumulated impairment losses (483,088) (483,088)
Net goodwill $ 3,632 $ 3,632
Intangible assets with indefinite lives $ 10,142 $ 10,142
Intangible assets with definite lives, net 514 542
Total intangible assets, net $ 10,656 $ 10,684

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company's goodwill is associated with its one reportable segment, lending. Intangible assets with indefinite lives relate to the Company's
trademarks.

Intangible Assets with Definite Lives

Intangible assets with definite lives relate to the following (dollars in thousands):

Accumulated

Cost Amortization Net
Purchase agreements $ 236 $ (224) $ 12
Technology 25,194 (25,194) —
Customer lists 6,682 (6,181) 501
Other 1,517 (1,516) 1
Balance at March 31, 2014 $ 33,629 $ (33,115) $ 514
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Accumulated
Cost Amortization Net
Purchase agreements $ 236 $ (212) $ 24
Technology 25,194 (25,194) —
Customer lists 6,682 (6,166) 516
Other 1,517 (1,515) 2
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 33,629 $ (33,087) $ 542

Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is computed on a straight-line basis and, based on balances as of March 31, 2014, future amortization

is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Amortization Expense

Remainder of current year $ 58
Year ending December 31, 2015 60
Year ending December 31, 2016 60
Year ending December 31, 2017 60
Year ending December 31, 2018 60
Thereafter 216
Total intangible assets with definite lives, net $ 514
NOTE 5—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
The balance of property and equipment, net is as follows (in thousands):
March 31, December 31,
2014 2013

Computer equipment and capitalized software $ 19,550 $ 18,130
Leasehold improvements 2,096 2,096
Furniture and other equipment 1,029 981
Projects in progress 1,740 2,145
Total gross property and equipment 24,415 23,352
Accumulated depreciation (18,763) (18,008)
Total property and equipment, net $ 5652 $ 5,344
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Accrued litigation liabilities $ 500 $ 500
Accrued advertising expense 12,560 8,837
Accrued compensation and benefits 1,872 3,378
Accrued professional fees 8,281 1,806
Accrued restructuring costs @ 289 284
Customer deposits and escrows 4,433 4,279
Deferred rent 259 245
Other 3,006 3,936
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 31,200 $ 23,265

(a) An additional $0.1 million and $0.2 million of accrued restructuring liability is classified in other long term liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

NOTE 7—SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The basic and diluted earnings per share were determined based on the following share data (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 2013
Weighted average basic common shares 11,142 10,967
Effect of stock options — —
Effect of dilutive share awards — —
Weighted average common shares 11,142 10,967

For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, we had losses from continuing operations and, as a result, no potentially dilutive securities were
included in the denominator for computing diluted earnings per share, because the impact would have been anti-dilutive. Accordingly, the weighted average
basic shares outstanding were used to compute earnings per share amounts for these periods. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013,
approximately 0.7 million and 0.7 million shares, respectively, related to potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings
per share, because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Common Stock Repurchases

On January 11, 2010, the board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $10 million of Tree.com's common stock. During the three months ended
March 31, 2014, the Company did not purchase any shares of its common stock pursuant to this stock repurchase program. At March 31, 2014, approximately
$0.8 million remains authorized for share repurchase.

On May 7, 2014, the board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $10 million of Tree.com's common stock.
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 8—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Non-cash compensation expense related to equity awards is included in the following line items in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 2013
Cost of revenue 6 $ 2
Selling and marketing expense 233 217
General and administrative expense 1,061 1,030
Product development 316 184
Total non-cash compensation expense 1,616 $ 1,433
Stock Options
A summary of changes in outstanding stock options is as follows:
Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Number of Options Price Term Value®
(per option) (in years) (in thousands)

Options outstanding at January 1, 2014 1,038,999 $ 8.98

Granted ® 42,757 33.59

Exercised (2,692) 11.44

Forfeited — —

Expired (10) 0.47

Options outstanding at March 31, 2014 1,079,054 9.95 474 $ 22,865
Options exercisable at March 31, 2014 935,005 $ 9.23 421 $ 20,394

(a) The aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company's closing stock price of $31.04 on the
last trading day of the quarter ended March 31, 2014 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on March 31, 2014. The intrinsic value changes based on the fair market
value of the Company's common stock.

(b) During the first quarter of 2014 the Company granted stock options with a weighted average grant date fair value per share of $17.13 that vest over a
period of three years from their grant date. For purposes of determining stock-based compensation expense, the grant date fair value per share of the
stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires the use of various key assumptions, including the

following:
Expected term (1) 6.0 years
Expected dividend @ —
Expected volatility ¢ 54%
Risk-free interest rate () 1.85%

(1) The expected term of stock options granted was calculated using the 'Simplified Method', which utilizes the midpoint between the weighted-
average time of vesting and the end of the contractual term. This method was utilized for the stock options due to the lack of historical exercise
behavior by the Company's employees.

(2) For all stock options granted in 2014, no dividends are expected to be paid over the contractual term of the stock options, resulting in a zero
expected dividend rate.

12
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(3) The expected volatility rate is based on the historical volatility of the Company's common stock for the four years preceding the grant date,
supplemented with the historical volatility of its peer group for the two years preceding the Company's historical volatility over the expected
term. A blended rate was used because the Company became a public company in 2008 and, therefore, does not have a historical volatility equal

to the expected term of these awards.

(4) The risk-free interest rate is specific to the date of grant. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yields for notes with comparable

expected terms as the awards, in effect at the grant date.

A summary of the information about stock options outstanding and exercisable is as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
(in years) (per option) (per option)
$0.01 to $4.99 15 012 $ 1.52 15 % 1.52
$5.00 to $7.45 304,032 7.47 6.65 202,740 6.65
$7.46 to $9.99 601,783 3.78 8.46 601,783 8.46
$10.00 to $14.99 3,679 0.56 12.25 3,679 12.25
$15.00 to $19.99 80,125 1.18 15.00 80,125 15.00
$20.00 to $33.59 89,420 5.35 26.60 46,663 20.19
Options at March 31, 2014 1,079,054 474 $ 9.95 935,005 $ 9.23
Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock
A summary of the changes in outstanding nonvested RSUs and restricted stock is as follows:
RSUs
RSUs Market Condition
‘Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date
Number of Units Fair Value Number of Units Fair Value
(per unit) (per unit)
Nonvested at January 1, 2014 599,122 14.15 —  $ —
Granted 102,440 33.59 500 33.59
Vested (141,116) 13.54 = =
Forfeited (10,371) 16.44 — —
Nonvested at March 31, 2014 550,075 17.89 500 $ 33.59

Restricted Stock

Restricted Stock
Market Condition

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of Grant Date Number of Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
(per share) (per share)
Nonvested at January 1, 2014 119,500 22.47 62,500 $ 13.93
Granted — — — _
Vested (20,833) 17.49 (62,500) 13.93
Forfeited — — — —
Nonvested at March 31, 2014 98,667 23.53 —  $ —
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 9—INCOME TAXES

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands, except percentages)
Income tax benefit (provision) $ 1 $ (20)
Effective tax rate —% 7.9%

For the three months ended March 31, 2014, the effective tax rate varied from the statutory rate primarily due to the existence of a valuation allowance
that has been provided to offset the Company's net deferred tax asset, after excluding deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite lived intangible assets that are
not going to provide a source of taxable income in the foreseeable future.

For the three months ended March 31, 2013, the effective income tax rate varied from the statutory rate due primarily to the impact of the valuation
allowance, indefinite-lived intangible assets and state taxes.

Valuation Allowance

There have been no changes to the Company's valuation allowance assessment for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

NOTE 10—DISCRETIONARY CASH BONUS

During February 2013, the Company incurred a compensation charge of $0.9 million related to a discretionary cash bonus payment to employee stock
option holders.

NOTE 11—CONTINGENCIES

Overview

Tree.com is involved in legal proceedings on an ongoing basis. In assessing the materiality of a legal proceeding, the Company evaluates, among other
factors, the amount of monetary damages claimed, as well as the potential impact of non-monetary remedies sought by plaintiffs (e.g., injunctive relief) that
may require it to change its business practices in a manner that could have a material adverse impact on the business. With respect to the matters disclosed in
this footnote, unless otherwise indicated, the Company is unable to estimate the possible loss or range of losses that could potentially result from the
application of such non-monetary remedies.

As of both March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had a litigation settlement accrual for its continuing operations of $0.5 million. The
litigation settlement accrual relates to litigation matters that were either settled or a firm offer for settlement was extended, thereby establishing an accrual
amount that is both probable and reasonably estimable.

Specific Matters
Intellectual Property Litigation

Zillow

LendingTree v. Zillow, Inc., et al. Civil Action No. 3:10-cv-439. On September 8, 2010, the Company filed an action for patent infringement in the US
District Court for the Western District of North Carolina against Zillow, Inc., Nextag, Inc., Quinstreet, Inc., Quinstreet Media, Inc. and Adchemy, Inc. The
complaint was amended to include Leadpoint, Inc. d/b/a Securerights on September 24, 2010. The complaint alleges that each of the defendants infringe one
or both of the Company's patents—U.S. Patent No. 6,385,594, entitled "Method and Computer Network for Co-Ordinating a Loan over the Internet," and U.S.
Patent No. 6,611,816, entitled "Method and Computer Network for Co-Ordinating a Loan over the Internet." Collectively, the asserted patents cover computer
hardware and software used in facilitating business between computer users and multiple lenders on the internet. The defendants in this action asserted
various counterclaims against the Company, including the assertion by certain of the defendants of counterclaims alleging illegal monopolization via our
maintenance of the asserted patents. In July 2011, the Company reached a settlement agreement with Leadpoint, Inc., pursuant to which all claims against
Leadpoint, Inc. and all counter-
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

claims against the Company by Leadpoint, Inc. were dismissed. In November 2012, the Company reached a settlement agreement with Quinstreet, Inc. and
Quinstreet Media, Inc. (collectively, the "Quinstreet Parties"), pursuant to which all claims against the Quinstreet Parties and all counterclaims against the
Company by the Quinstreet Parties were dismissed. This matter went to trial beginning in February 2014, and on March 12, 2014, the jury returned a verdict.
The jury found that the defendants Zillow, Inc., Adchemy, Inc., and NexTag, Inc. did not infringe the two patents referenced above and determined that those
patents are invalid due to inventorship defects. The jury found in the Company's favor on the defendants' counterclaims alleging inequitable conduct and
antitrust violations. Judgment was entered on March 31, 2014. Certain matters remain pending with the court, including the Company's motions for a new
trial and to correct the inventorship defect and restore the validity of the patents and the defendants' motions for sanctions and awards of attorneys' fees. The
Company believes it has strong grounds for appeal and filed a notice of appeal on April 22, 2014. The range of possible loss on the motions for sanctions and
awards of attorneys' fees is estimated to be between $0 to $9.7 million. The Company believes the defendants' motions for sanctions and attorneys' fees lack
merit and intends to defend these motions vigorously.

Internet Patents Corp.

Internet Patents Corporation f/k/a InsWeb v. Tree.com, Inc., No. C-12-6505 (U.S. Dist. Ct., N.D. Cal.). In December 2012, the plaintiff filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against the Company seeking a judgment that it had infringed a patent held by the plaintiff. Process was formally served with respect to
this matter in April 2013. The plaintiff sought injunctive relief, damages, costs, expenses, pre- and post-judgment interest, punitive damages and attorneys'
fees. The plaintiff alleged that the Company infringes U.S. Patent No. 7,707,505, entitled "Dynamic Tabs for a Graphical User Interface". On October 25,
2013, the court dismissed the suit based on the finding that the plaintiff's claims failed as a matter of law because the asserted patent is invalid for lack of
patent-eligible subject matter. The plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on November 7, 2013. In December 2013, the Company's case was consolidated with three
other pending appeals involving the asserted patents. The plaintiff filed its opening appellate brief in January 2014, and the Company filed a joint appellate
response brief in April 2014. The Company believes the plaintiff's allegations lack merit and intends to defend against this action vigorously.

Money Suite

The Money Suite Company v. LendingTree, LLC, No. 1:13-ev-986 (U.S. Dist. Ct, D Del.). In June 2013, the plaintiff filed a patent infringement lawsuit
against LendingTree, LLC ("LendingTree") seeking a judgment that it infringed a patent held by plaintiff. The plaintiff alleges that LendingTree infringes
U.S. Patent No. 6,684,189 for "an apparatus and method using front end network gateways and search criteria for efficient quoting at a remote location". The
plaintiff seeks damages (including pre- and post- judgment interest thereon), costs and attorneys' fees. In December 2013, the court stayed this case pending
review of the patent by the United States Patent and Trademark Office. The Company believes the plaintiff's allegations lack merit and intends to defend
against this action vigorously.

Other Litigation

Boschma

Boschma v. Home Loan Center, Inc., No. SACV7-613 (U.S. Dist. Ct., C.D. Cal.). On May 25, 2007, the plaintiffs filed this putative class action against
Home Loan Center, Inc. ("HLC") in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California. The plaintiffs allege that HLC sold them an option "ARM"
(adjustable-rate mortgage) loan but failed to disclose in a clear and conspicuous manner, among other things, that the interest rate was not fixed, that negative
amortization could occur and that the loan had a prepayment penalty. Based upon these factual allegations, the plaintiffs asserted violations of the federal
Truth in Lending Act, violations of the Unfair Competition Law, breach of contract, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The plaintiffs
purport to represent a class of all individuals who between June 1, 2003 and May 31, 2007 obtained an option ARM loan through HLC on their primary
residence located in California, and seek rescission, damages, attorneys' fees and injunctive relief. The plaintiffs have not yet filed a motion for class
certification, but have filed a total of eight complaints in connection with this lawsuit. Each of the first seven complaints has been dismissed by the federal
and state courts. The plaintiffs filed the eighth complaint (a "Second Amended Complaint") in Orange County (California) Superior Court on March 4, 2010
alleging only the fraud and Unfair Competition Law claims. As with each of the seven previous versions of plaintiffs' complaint, the Second Amended
Complaint was dismissed in April 2010. The plaintiffs appealed the dismissal and on August 10, 2011, the appellate court reversed the trial court's dismissal
and directed the trial court to overrule the demurrer. The case was remanded to superior court. During 2013, the parties agreed to a $450,000 settlement,
which was approved in 2013. A nominal payment into the settlement fund was made in late 2013. The Company expects administration of the settlement to
be completed by the third quarter of 2014. A provision
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for the remaining $435,000 is included in current liabilities of discontinued operations at March 31, 2014. The impact of the settlement was not material.
Dijkstra

Lijkel Dijkstra v. Harry Carenbauer, Home Loan Center, Inc. et al., No. 5:11-cv-152-JPB (U.S. Dist. Ct., N.D.WV). On November 7, 2008, the plaintiffs
filed this putative class action in Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia against Harry Carenbauer, HLC, HL.C Escrow, Inc. et al. The complaint alleges
that HLC engaged in the unauthorized practice of law in West Virginia by permitting persons who were neither admitted to the practice of law in West
Virginia nor under the direct supervision of a lawyer admitted to the practice of law in West Virginia to close mortgage loans. The plaintiffs assert claims for
declaratory judgment, contempt, injunctive relief, conversion, unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional misrepresentation or fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act ("CCPA"), violation of the West Virginia Lender, Broker & Services
Act, civil conspiracy, outrage and negligence. The claims against all defendants other than Mr. Carenbauer, HLC and HLC Escrow, Inc. have been dismissed.
The case was removed to federal court in October 2011. On January 3, 2013, the court granted a conditional class certification only with respect to the
declaratory judgment, contempt, unjust enrichment and CCPA claims. The conditional class includes consumers with mortgage loans in effect any time after
November 8, 2007 who obtained such loans through HL.C, and whose loans were closed by persons not admitted to the practice of law in West Virginia or by
persons not under the direct supervision of a lawyer admitted to the practice of law in West Virginia. On February 26, 2014, the court granted and denied
certain of each party's motions for summary judgment. With respect to the Class Claims, the court granted plaintiff's motions for summary judgment with
respect to declaratory judgment, unjust enrichment and violation of the CCPA. The court granted HLC's motion for summary judgment with respect to
contempt. In addition, the court denied HLC's motion to decertify the class. With respect to the claims applicable to the named plaintiff only (the "Individual
Claims"), HLC's motions for summary judgment were granted with respect to conversion, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional misrepresentation, negligent
misrepresentation and outrage. HLC and the plaintiff have reached a tentative settlement agreement with respect to the remaining Individual Claims. The trial
for the Class Claims has not yet been scheduled by the court. The Company believes that the plaintiffs' allegations related to the Class Claims lack merit and
intends to defend against this action vigorously.

The range of possible loss is estimated to be between $0.6 million and $1.95 million, of which some or all may be covered by insurance. A reserve of
$0.6 million and a corresponding insurance recoverable of $0.5 million have been established for this matter in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31,
2014.

Massachusetts Division of Banks

On February 11, 2011, the Massachusetts Division of Banks (the "Division") delivered a Report of Examination/Inspection to LendingTree, which
identified various alleged violations of Massachusetts and federal laws, including the alleged insufficient delivery by LendingTree of various disclosures to its
customers. On October 14, 2011, the Division provided a proposed Consent Agreement and Order to settle the Division's allegations, which the Division had
shared with other state mortgage lending regulators. Thirty-four of such state mortgage lending regulators (the "Joining Regulators") indicated that if
LendingTree would enter into the Consent Agreement and Order, they would agree not to pursue any analogous allegations that they otherwise might assert.
As of May 7, 2014, none of the Joining Regulators have asserted any such allegations.

The proposed Consent Agreement and Order calls for a fine to be allocated among the Division and the Joining Regulators and for LendingTree to adopt
various new procedures and practices. The Company has commenced negotiations toward an acceptable Consent Agreement and Order. It does not believe its
mortgage exchange business violated any federal or state mortgage lending laws; nor does it believe that any past operations of the mortgage business have
resulted in a material violation of any such laws. Should the Division or any Joining Regulator bring any actions relating to the matters alleged in the
February 2011 Report of Examination/Inspection, the Company intends to defend against such actions vigorously. The range of possible loss is estimated to
be between $0.5 million and $6.5 million, and a reserve of $0.5 million has been established for this matter in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31,
2014.
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NOTE 12—SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has one reportable segment, its lending operating segment. Its additional operating segments—auto, education and home services—are
included in the "Other" category in the reconciliation of segment information below.

The expenses presented below for the lending segment and the operating segments shown in the Other category include allocations of certain corporate
expenses that are identifiable and directly benefit those segments. The unallocated expenses included in the "Corporate" category are those corporate
overhead expenses that are not directly attributable to an operating segment and include: finance, legal, executive technology support and human resources.

Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, is the primary metric by which the chief operating decision maker evaluates the performance of the
Company's businesses, on which its internal budgets are based and by which management is compensated. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating income
or loss (which excludes interest expense and taxes) adjusted to exclude amortization of intangibles and depreciation, and excluding (1) non-cash
compensation expense, (2) non-cash intangible asset impairment charges, (3) gain/loss on disposal of assets, (4) restructuring and severance expenses,
(5) litigation settlements and contingencies and legal fees for certain patent litigation, (6) adjustments for significant acquisitions or dispositions, and (7) one-
time items. For the periods presented in this report, there are no adjustments for one-time items, except for a $0.9 million related to a discretionary cash bonus
payment to employee stock option holders during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

Assets and other balance sheet information are not used by the chief operating decision maker.
Summarized information by segment and reconciliations to Adjusted EBITDA and income (loss) before income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

Lending Other Corporate Total
Revenue $ 36,928 $ 3,108 $ — % 40,036
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) 1,545 120 — 1,665
Selling and marketing expense 25,619 1,830 — 27,449
General and administrative expense 1,246 782 4,105 6,133
Product development 1,623 309 — 1,932
Depreciation 363 293 99 755
Amortization of intangibles — 28 — 28
Restructuring and severance 148 15 39 202
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — 7,707 7,707
Total costs and expenses 30,544 3,377 11,950 45,871
Operating income (loss) 6,384 (269) (11,950) (5,835)
Adjustments to reconcile to Adjusted EBITDA:
Amortization of intangibles — 28 — 28
Depreciation 363 293 99 755
Restructuring and severance 148 15 39 202
Loss on disposal of assets — 8 — 8
Non-cash compensation 599 265 752 1,616
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — 7,707 7,707
Adjusted EBITDA $ 7,494 $ 340 $ 3,353) $ 4,481
Operating loss $ (5,835)
Interest expense —
Loss before income taxes $ (5,835)
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 @

Lending Other Corporate Total
Revenue $ 25,673 $ 2,407 $ —  $ 28,080
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) 1,156 173 27 1,356
Selling and marketing expense 15,160 2,095 — 17,255
General and administrative expense 978 511 5,067 6,556
Product development 950 255 — 1,205
Depreciation 374 417 94 885
Amortization of intangibles — 43 — 43
Restructuring and severance — — 2 2)
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — 1,028 1,028
Total costs and expenses 18,618 3,494 6,214 28,326
Operating income (loss) 7,055 (1,087) (6,214) (246)
Adjustments to reconcile to Adjusted EBITDA:
Amortization of intangibles — 43 — 43
Depreciation 374 417 94 885
Restructuring and severance — — ) )
Loss on disposal of assets — — 25 25
Non-cash compensation 413 142 878 1,433
Discretionary cash bonus — — 920 920
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — 1,028 1,028
Adjusted EBITDA $ 7,842 $ (485) $ (3,271) $ 4,086
Operating loss $ (246)
Interest expense 7)
Loss before income taxes $ (253)

(a) For comparative purposes, revenue from and expenses related to personal loan offerings have been recast from the "Other" category to the lending
segment.

NOTE 13—RESTRUCTURING

Accrued restructuring liabilities primarily relate to lease obligations for call center leases exited in 2010, which are expected to be completed by 2015.
Restructuring expense and payments against liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Continuing
Lease
Obligations
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 462
Restructuring expense 4
Payments (74)
Balance at March 31, 2014 $ 392

At March 31, 2014, restructuring liabilities of $0.3 million are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $0.1 million are included in
other non-current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2013, restructuring liabilities of $0.3 million are included in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $0.2 million are included
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in other non-current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. We do not expect to incur significant additional costs related to the
restructuring noted above.

NOTE 14—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Real Estate

On March 10, 2011, management made the decision and finalized a plan to close all of the field offices of the proprietary full-service real estate
brokerage business known as RealEstate.com, REALTORSe®. The Company exited all markets by March 31, 2011. In September 2011, the remaining assets
of RealEstate.com were sold, which consisted primarily of internet domain names and trademarks. Accordingly, these real estate businesses are presented as
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. No significant future cash flows are anticipated from
the disposition of this business.

The revenue and net loss for the real estate businesses that are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 2013
Revenue $ —  $ 1
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (16) $ 7
Income tax benefit — —
Net income (loss) $ (16) $ 7

The liabilities of real estate businesses that are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in
thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Current liabilities $ (15) $ (45)
Net liabilities $ (15) $ (45)

LendingTree Loans

On May 12, 2011, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement, later amended on February 7, 2012, that provided for the sale of substantially
all of the operating assets of its LendingTree Loans business to Discover. The sale was completed on June 6, 2012. Discover has participated as a network
lender since closing of the transaction. An evaluation of the facts and circumstances of the transaction and the applicable accounting guidance for
discontinued operations indicates that the LendingTree Loans business should be reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for all periods presented. The continuing cash flows related to this transaction are not significant and, accordingly, are not deemed to be
direct cash flows of the divested business.

The Company agreed to indemnify Discover for a breach or inaccuracy of any representation, warranty or covenant made by it in the asset purchase
agreement, for any liability of LendingTree Loans that was not assumed, for any claims by its stockholders against Discover and for its failure to comply with
any applicable bulk sales law, subject to certain limitations. Discover submitted a claim for indemnification relating to the sale prior to the closing of certain
loans that were listed in the asset purchase agreement as to be conveyed to Discover at closing. In May 2013, this indemnification claim and other
miscellaneous items were settled by agreeing to credit Discover for $1.3 million in future services. A majority of these credits were applied against services
during the year ended December 31, 2013. The remaining credits were exhausted in the first quarter of 2014.
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The revenue and net loss for LendingTree Loans that are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 2013
Revenue $ 2 $ (1,195)
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (555) $ (2,498)
Income tax benefit (expense) 3) (51)
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — 98
Net income (loss) $ (558) $ (2,451)

The assets and liabilities of LendingTree Loans that are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are as
follows (in thousands):

March 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Current assets $ 527 $ 521
Non-current assets 100 129
Current liabilities (31,890) (31,959)
Non-current liabilities (306) (254)
Net liabilities $ (31,569) $ (31,563)

Significant Assets and Liabilities of LendingTree Loans

Upon closing of the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of the LendingTree Loans business on June 6, 2012, LendingTree Loans ceased to
originate consumer loans. The remaining operations are being wound down. These wind-down activities have included, among other things, selling the
balance of loans held for sale to investors, paying off and then terminating the warehouse lines of credit and settling derivative obligations, all of which have
been completed. Liability for losses on previously sold loans will remain with LendingTree Loans and are discussed below.

Loan Loss Obligations

LendingTree Loans sold loans it originated to investors on a servicing-released basis, so the risk of loss or default by the borrower was generally
transferred to the investor. However, LendingTree Loans was required by these investors to make certain representations and warranties relating to credit
information, loan documentation and collateral. These representations and warranties may extend through the contractual life of the loan. Subsequent to the
loan sale, if underwriting deficiencies, borrower fraud or documentation defects are discovered in individual loans, LendingTree Loans may be obligated to
repurchase the respective loan or indemnify the investors for any losses from borrower defaults if such deficiency or defect cannot be cured within the
specified period following discovery. In the case of early loan payoffs and early defaults on certain loans, LendingTree Loans may be required to repay all or
a portion of the premium initially paid by the investor.

The Company's HLC subsidiary continues to be liable for these indemnification obligations, repurchase obligations and premium repayment obligations
following the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of its LendingTree Loans business in the second quarter of 2012. As of March 31, 2014,
approximately $21.2 million is being held in escrow pending resolution of certain of these contingent liabilities. The Company has been negotiating with
certain secondary market purchasers to settle any existing and future contingent liabilities, but it may not be able to complete such negotiations on acceptable
terms, or at all. Because LendingTree Loans does not service the loans it sold, it does not maintain nor generally have access to the current balances and loan
performance data with respect to the individual loans previously sold to investors. Accordingly, LendingTree Loans is unable to determine, with precision, its
maximum exposure for breaches of the representations and warranties it made to the investors that purchased such loans.
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During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company revised its estimation process for evaluating the adequacy of the reserve for loan losses to use a
settlement discount framework. This model estimates the lifetime losses on the population of remaining loans originated and sold by LendingTree Loans
using actual defaults for loans with similar characteristics and projected future defaults. It also considers the likelihood of claims expected due to alleged
breaches of representations and warranties made by LendingTree Loans and the percentage of those claims investors estimate LendingTree Loans may agree
to repurchase. A settlement discount factor is then applied to the result of the foregoing to reflect publicly announced bulk settlements for similar loan types
and vintages, as well as LendingTree Loans' non-operating status, in order to estimate a range of potential obligation.

The estimated range of remaining loan losses using this settlement discount framework was determined to be $17.0 million to $31.0 million at March 31,
2014. The reserve balance recorded as of March 31, 2014 was $28.5 million. Management has considered both objective and subjective factors in the
estimation process, but given current general industry trends in mortgage loans as well as housing prices and market expectations, actual losses related to
LendingTree Loans' obligations could vary significantly from the obligation recorded as of the balance sheet date or the range estimated above.

Additionally, Tree.com has guaranteed certain loans sold to two investors in the event that LendingTree Loans is unable to satisfy its repurchase and
warranty obligations related to such loans.

The following table represents the loans sold for the periods shown and the aggregate loan losses through March 31, 2014:

March 31, 2014
Original
Principal
Original Number of Balance of Amount of
Number of Principal Loans with Loans with Aggregate
Period of Loan Sales Loans Sold Balance Losses Losses Losses
(in billions) (in millions) (in millions)
2014 — 3 — — 5 — 5 —
2013 — — — — —
2012 9,200 1.9 — — —
2011 12,500 2.7 1 0.3 0.1
2010 12,400 2.8 4 1.1 0.1
2009 12,800 2.8 5 1.2 0.2
2008 11,000 2.2 33 6.9 2.2
2007 36,300 6.1 160 22.1 8.2
2006 55,000 7.9 207 24.5 13.4
2005 and prior years 86,700 13.0 89 12.3 5.0
Total 235,900 $ 39.4 499 $ 684 $ 29.2

Based on historical experience, it is anticipated that LendingTree Loans will continue to receive repurchase requests and incur losses on loans sold in
prior years.

The activity related to loss reserves on previously sold loans is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 2013
Loan loss reserve, beginning of period $ 28,543 $ 27,182
Provisions — 1,197
Charge-offs to reserves — —
Loan loss reserve, end of period $ 28,543 $ 28,379

The liability for losses on previously sold loans is presented as current liabilities of discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This report contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements also include statements related to our anticipated
financial performance, business prospects and strategy; anticipated trends and prospects in the various industries in which our businesses operate; new
products, services and related strategies; and other similar matters. These forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and
assumptions about future events, which are inherently subject to uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. The use of
words such as "anticipates," "estimates,” "expects," "projects, plans" and "believes," among others, generally identify forward-looking
statements.

non non nons

intends,

non

Actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Factors currently known to management that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include those matters discussed or referenced in Part II, Item 1A—Risk Factors.

Other unknown or unpredictable factors that could also adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations may arise from time to
time. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking statements discussed in this report may not prove to be accurate. Accordingly, you should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which only reflect the views of Tree.com management as of the date of this report. We
undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to
future operating results or expectations, except as required by law.

Company Overview

Tree.com is the parent of LendingTree, LLC which owns several brands and businesses that provide information, tools, advice, products and services for
critical transactions in consumers' lives. Our family of brands includes: LendingTree®, GetSmarte, LendingTree EducationS™, LendingTree AutosSM,
LendingTree Home ProsSM and InsuranceTreee. Together, these brands serve as an ally for consumers who are looking to comparison-shop for loans and
other services from multiple businesses and professionals that will compete for their business.

The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstate.com, REALTORS® and LendingTree Loans are presented as discontinued operations in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for all periods presented. The analysis within
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations reflects our continuing operations.

Reportable and Operating Segments

Our four operating segments are lending, auto, education and home services. We sometimes refer to these operating segments as our “businesses”. Of
these, only our lending operating segment meets the criteria for a reportable segment. We formerly referred to this reportable segment as our mortgage
segment. The auto, education and home services operating segments are reported in the "Other" category in our segment reconciling information. See Note 12
—Segment Information to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Recent Mortgage Interest Rate Trends

Interest rate and market risks can be substantial in the mortgage lead generation business. Fluctuations in interest rates affect consumer demand for new
mortgages and the level of refinancing activity which, in turn, affects lender demand for mortgage leads. Typically, a decline in mortgage interest rates will
lead to reduced lender demand for leads from third-party sources, as there are more consumers in the marketplace seeking refinancings and, accordingly,
lenders receive more organic lead volume. Conversely, an increase in mortgage interest rates will typically lead to an increase in lender demand for third-
party leads, as there are fewer consumers in the marketplace and, accordingly, the supply of organic mortgage lead volume decreases.

According to Freddie Mac, in 2013, mortgage interest rates rose gradually through the first five months of the year. In June 2013, mortgage interest rates
increased more significantly, subsequently peaking at 4.49% in September 2013, then dropped more than a quarter-point early in the fourth quarter of 2013
and then increased again to 4.46% by the end of 2013.
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Mortgage interest rates declined slightly during the first quarter of 2014 to 4.34% in March 2014 and averaged 4.36% during the quarter, as compared to
averages of 3.50% and 4.30% during the first and fourth quarters of 2013, respectively. Higher average mortgage interest rates during the first quarter of 2014
resulted in a 57% and 23% decline in the total dollar volume of mortgage originations as compared to the first and fourth quarters of 2013, respectively,
according to Mortgage Bankers Association ("MBA") data.

For the remaining quarters of 2014, MBA is projecting the dollar volume of aggregate mortgage originations to be above first quarter 2014 levels.
Notwithstanding that anticipated improvement from the first quarter 2014, full year 2014 projected aggregate mortgage originations of almost $1.1 trillion are
expected to represent a decline of 39% decline from 2013 and the lowest level of originations since 2000, resulting from increasing mortgage interest rates
projected to hit 5% and average 4.8% in 2014. The rise in mortgage interest rates will also continue to move the mix of mortgage originations towards
purchase, with estimated refinance share of originations of 63% in 2013 declining to 39% in 2014, according to MBA data.

The U.S. Real Estate Market

The U.S real estate market continued its recovery in 2013 as job growth improved and demand drove the market, resulting in nationwide sales of existing
homes at their highest level since 2006, according to the National Association of Realtors. However, nationwide sales of existing homes during the first
quarter of 2014 have declined approximately 7% as compared to both the first and fourth quarters of 2013, likely associated with rising mortgage interest
rates and price growth. The median existing home price was up almost 8% in March 2014 as compared to one year ago. The National Association of Realtors
expects some improvement in the months ahead with ongoing job creation and some weather delayed shopping activity, particularly if existing home
inventory continues to improve and mortgage interest rates rise only modestly.

Results of Operations for the Three Months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Revenue
Three Months Ended March 31,
$ %
2014 Change Change 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 36,928 $ 11,255 4% $ 25,673
Other 3,108 701 29% 2,407
Corporate — — —% —
Total revenue $ 40,036 $ 11,956 3% $ 28,080

Revenue from our lending segment increased in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013, due to increases in each of the products
within this segment. Within our lending segment, revenue from mortgage products increased by $8.2 million in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first
quarter of 2013, primarily driven by increased revenue from our purchase mortgage product. Revenue from non-mortgage products within our lending
segment increased $3.0 million in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013. Our non-mortgage products within our lending segment
include the following products: reverse mortgage, home equity, personal loans and rate table. Our reverse mortgage and rate table products were introduced in
the first quarter of 2013 and our personal loan product was re-launched in the third quarter of 2013.

The number of consumers matched on our lending exchange increased by 62% in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013, although
our average revenue earned from network lenders per matched consumer decreased by 11% during this time. The decrease in revenue earned per matched
consumer was primarily due to the increased relative contribution of our purchase and non-mortgage lending products, which have lower revenue per
matched consumer rates than refinance, which had been a bigger portion of our business previously.

Other revenue, which includes our auto, education, home services and other businesses, increased in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter
of 2013. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $1.1 million in our auto business, partially offset by decreases in our education and home services
businesses of $0.4 million.
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Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs associated with compensation and other employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) relating
to internally-operated call centers, third-party call center fees, credit scoring fees, credit card fees and website network hosting and server fees.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 Ch:nge Ch:f;lge 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 1,545 $ 389 4% $ 1,156
Other 120 (53) B1)% 173
Corporate — 27) (100)% 27
Total cost of revenue $ 1,665 $ 309 23% $ 1,356
As a percentage of total revenue 4% 5%

Lending cost of revenue increased in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter of 2013, primarily due to increases of $0.2 million in credit card fees,
and $0.1 million in credit scoring fees.

Other cost of revenue decreased in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013, primarily due to decreases in third-party call center
fees.

Selling and marketing expense

Selling and marketing expense consists primarily of advertising and promotional expenditures, fees paid to lead sources and compensation and other
employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) for personnel engaged in sales or marketing functions. Advertising and promotional
expenditures primarily include online marketing, as well as television, print and radio spending. Advertising production costs are expensed in the period the
related ad is first run.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 Chfnge ChZonge 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 25,619 $ 10,459 69% $ 15,160
Other 1,830 (265) (13)% 2,095
Corporate — — — % —
Total selling and marketing expense $ 27,449 $ 10,194 59% $ 17,255
As a percentage of total revenue 69% 61%

The increase in lending selling and marketing expense in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013 is primarily due to an increase of
$10.0 million in advertising expense, as discussed below.

The increase in lending advertising expense corresponds to a 62% increase in consumers matched with network lenders in the first quarter of 2014
compared to the first quarter of 2013.

Other selling and marketing expense decreased in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter of 2013, primarily due to a decrease of in compensation
and benefits as a result of a decrease in headcount.

Total selling and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue increased in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013, primarily due
to the continuation of the national advertising campaign for our LendingTree brand launched in the second quarter of 2013.
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Advertising expense is the largest component of selling and marketing expense, and is comprised of the following:

Three Months Ended March 31,

$ %
2014 Change Change 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Online $ 20,752 $ 8,064 64% $ 12,688
Broadcast 2,628 2,125 422 % 503
Other 1,413 (16) (D)% 1,429
Total advertising expense $ 24,793 $ 10,173 70% $ 14,620

We increased our online advertising expenditures in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013 in order to generate additional lending
lead volume to meet the increased demand of network lenders on our mortgage exchange. In addition, we further increased our broadcast spend to support our
new national advertising campaign for our LendingTree brand, which commenced in the second quarter of 2013.

We will continue to adjust selling and marketing expenditures dynamically in relation to revenue producing opportunities.

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation and other employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) for
personnel engaged in finance, legal, tax, corporate information technology, human resources and executive management functions, as well as facilities and
infrastructure costs and fees for professional services.

Three Months Ended March 31,

$ %
2014 Change Change 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 1,246 $ 268 27% $ 978
Other 782 271 53 % 511
Corporate 4,105 (962) (19)% 5,067
Total general and administrative expense $ 6,133 $ (423) 6)% $ 6,556
As a percentage of total revenue 15% 23%

General and administrative expense in both lending and the other businesses increased in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter of 2013,
primarily due to increases in compensation and benefits of $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively. During the first quarter of 2013, a portion of the
incentive compensation for individuals in the lending and other businesses was allocated to corporate. The incentive compensation plan was modified for
2014 and during the first quarter of 2014, the lending and other businesses reflect the full incentive compensation for individuals in these businesses.
Additionally, non-cash incentive compensation increased in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter of 2013.

Corporate general and administrative expense decreased during the same period, primarily due to decreased compensation and benefits of $1.3 million,
partially offset by an increase in professional fees of $0.2 million. The decrease in compensation and benefits in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter
of 2013 is primarily due to a compensation charge of $0.9 million related to a discretionary cash bonus payment to employee stock option holders in the first
quarter of 2013, in addition to the reduction in incentive compensation classified in corporate due to the allocation discussed above.

General and administrative expense in the first quarter of 2014 was spread over proportionately greater revenue during the period, resulting in an
improvement in general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue.

Product development

Product development expense consists primarily of compensation and other employee-related costs (including stock-based compensation) that are not
capitalized, for personnel engaged in the design, development, testing and enhancement of technology.
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 Ch:nge Ch:f;lge 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 1,623 $ 673 71% $ 950
Other 309 54 21% 255
Corporate — — —% —
Total product development $ 1,932 $ 727 60% $ 1,205
As a percentage of total revenue 5% 4%

Product development expense increased in the first quarter of 2014 as compared to the first quarter of 2013, primarily due to increases in compensation
and other employee-related costs. We increased headcount in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013 in order to support planned
product launches for 2014.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense decreased to $0.8 million in the first quarter of 2014 compared to $0.9 million in the first quarter of 2013 primarily due to certain
fixed assets that fully depreciated in 2013.

Litigation settlements and contingencies

Litigation settlements and contingencies consists of expenses related to actual or anticipated litigation settlements, in addition to legal fees incurred in
connection with various patent litigations we are pursuing. During the first quarter of 2014 and 2013, we recorded $7.7 million and $1.0 million, respectively,
primarily due to legal fees incurred in connection with various patent litigations we are currently pursuing.

During the first quarter of 2014, we participated in a jury trial for the Zillow litigation described in Note 11—Contingencies to the consolidated financial
statements, included elsewhere in this report. The legal expenses associated with this jury trial increased our litigation settlements and contingencies expense
for the first quarter of 2014. We will continue to incur litigation expenses on this matter for post-trial matters, including a notice of appeal we filed and costs
relating to various pending post-trial motions. While we expect legal expenses related to this matter to decline significantly in future periods, we cannot
predict the additional impact that this litigation may have on full year 2014 litigation settlements and contingencies.

Operating loss

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 Chgnge Ch:f:lge 2013
(Dollars in thousands)
Lending $ 6,384 $ (671) (10)% $ 7,055
Other (269) 818 (75)% (1,087)
Corporate (11,950) (5,736) 92 % (6,214)
Operating loss $ 5,835) $ (5,589) 2,272% $ (246)
As a percentage of total revenue (15)% 1)%

Operating income decreased in the first quarter of 2014 compared to the first quarter of 2013 despite an increase in revenue of $12.0 million, primarily
due to increases in selling and marketing expense of $10.2 million, litigation settlements and contingencies of $6.7 million and product development expense
of $0.7 million.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA") is a non-GAAP measure and is defined in "Tree.com's
Principles of Financial Reporting" below. The following table is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss) for continuing operations by
segment.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

Lending Other Corporate Total

(in thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA by segment $ 7,494 $ 340 $ 3,353) $ 4,481

Adjustments to reconcile to net income (loss) from continuing

operations:
Amortization of intangibles — (28) — (28)
Depreciation (363) (293) (99) (755)
Restructuring and severance (148) (15) (39) (202)
Loss on disposal of assets — ®) — 8)
Non-cash compensation (599) (265) (752) (1,616)
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — (7,707) (7,707)
Other expense, net — — — —
Income tax benefit (provision) — — 1 1

Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 6,384 $ 269) $ (11,949) $ (5,834)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Lending Other Corporate Total
(in thousands)
Adjusted EBITDA by segment $ 7,842 $ (485) $ 3,271) $ 4,086
Adjustments to reconcile to net income (loss) from continuing
operations:
Amortization of intangibles — (43) — (43)
Depreciation (374) (417) 94) (885)
Restructuring and severance — — 2 2
Loss on disposal of assets — — (25) (25)
Non-cash compensation (413) (142) (878) (1,433)
Discretionary cash bonus — — (920) (920)
Litigation settlements and contingencies — — (1,028) (1,028)
Other expense, net — — 7) 7)
Income tax benefit (provision) — — (20) (20)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 7,055 $ (1,087) $ (6,241) $ (273)

Income tax provision

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2014 2013
(in thousands, except percentages)
Income tax benefit (provision) $ 1 $ (20)
Effective tax rate —% 7.9%

During the first quarter of 2014, the effective tax rate varied from the statutory rate primarily due to the existence of a valuation allowance that has been
provided to offset our net deferred tax asset, after excluding deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite lived intangible assets that are not going to provide a
source of taxable income in the foreseeable future.

During the first quarter of 2013, the effective income tax rate varied from the statutory rate due primarily to the impact of the valuation allowance,
indefinite-lived intangible assets and state taxes.

27



Table of Contents

There have been no changes to our valuation allowance assessment for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Discontinued Operations

For the first quarters of 2014 and 2013, losses from discontinued operations of $0.6 million and $2.4 million, respectively, were primarily attributable to
operating losses associated with the LendingTree Loans business, the sale of which was completed on June 6, 2012. The loss in the first quarter of 2014
primarily relates to legal fees associated with ongoing legal proceedings.

Financial Position, Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We expect our cash and cash equivalents and cash flows from operations to be sufficient to fund our operating and other needs for the next twelve months
and beyond.

As of March 31, 2014, we had $89.5 million of cash and cash equivalents and $24.1 million of restricted cash and cash equivalents, compared to $91.7
million of cash and cash equivalents and $26.0 million of restricted cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2013.

Cash Flows from Continuing Operations

Our cash flows attributable to continuing operations are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 244 $ (5,416)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 885 (201)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,958) (671)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities attributable to continuing operations in the first three months of 2014 was $0.2 million and consisted primarily
of losses from continuing operations of $5.8 million, offset by positive adjustments for non-cash items of $2.6 million and cash provided by working capital
of $3.5 million. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of $1.6 million in non-cash compensation expense and $0.8 million of depreciation.
Accounts receivable increased $1.0 million due to increases in revenue. Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities increased $4.5
million, primarily due to legal fees associated with the jury trial for the Zillow patent litigation. We expect a significant use of cash during the second quarter
of 2014 as legal fees from the jury trial are paid.

Net cash used in operating activities attributable to continuing operations in the first three months of 2013 was $5.4 million and consisted of losses from
continuing operations of $0.3 million, positive adjustments for non-cash items of $2.4 million and cash used for working capital of $7.6 million. Adjustments
for non-cash items primarily consisted of $1.4 million of non-cash compensation expense and $0.9 million of depreciation. Accounts receivable increased by
$2.1 million, primarily due to increases in revenue. Accounts payable and other current liabilities decreased by $2.5 million, as we paid previously incurred
expenses from improved cash flow.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities attributable to continuing operations in the first three months of 2014 of $0.9 million consisted primarily of a
decrease in restricted cash of $2.0 million, which was partially offset by capital expenditures of $1.1 million. During the first quarter of 2014, the Company
reached and executed a settlement with the disputing party on the earnout related to an acquisition, upon which $2.0 million of cash previously held in escrow
was released.

Net cash used in investing activities attributable to continuing operations in the first three months of 2013 of $0.2 million resulted primarily from capital
expenditures of $0.6 million, offset by a decrease in restricted cash of $0.4 million.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities attributable to continuing operations in the first three months of 2014 of $3.0 million consisted primarily of $2.9
million in employee withholding taxes paid by us upon employees' surrender of shares to satisfy withholding obligations on equity awards.

Net cash used in financing activities in the first three months of 2013 of $0.7 million was primarily due to the vesting and issuance of stock to employees
(less withholding taxes).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any other off-balance sheet arrangements other than our operating lease obligations and funding commitments pursuant to our surety
bonds.

Summary of Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth below our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2013. There have been no material
changes to our contractual obligations since December 31, 2013.

Payments Due By Period as of December 31, 2013

Less Than More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Loan loss reserve @ $ 28,543 $ 28,543 $ — $ — 3 —
Operating lease obligations ® 2,812 1,809 1,003 — —
Total contractual obligations $ 31,355 30,352 1,003 — —

(a) Our HLC subsidiary continues to be liable for the indemnification obligations, repurchase obligations and premium repayment obligations following
the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans business in the second quarter of 2012. An estimate of these obligations
is reflected within current liabilities of discontinued operations on the December 31, 2013 consolidated balance sheet. We have been negotiating with
certain secondary market purchasers to settle any existing and future contingent liabilities. Due to uncertainties in the timing of these negotiations,
which could occur at any time, the balance of the loan loss reserve has been reflected as due in less than one year.

(b) Our operating lease obligations are associated with office space, equipment and services used in both our continuing and discontinued operations.
These obligations have not been reduced by the $0.4 million of minimum sublease rental income to be received in the future under non-cancelable
subleases.

Seasonality

Revenue is subject to the cyclical and seasonal trends of the U.S. housing and mortgage markets. Home sales typically rise during the spring and summer
months and decline during the fall and winter months, while refinancing and home equity activity is principally driven by mortgage interest rates as well as
real estate values. However, in recent periods additional factors affecting the mortgage and real estate markets have impacted customary seasonal trends.

New Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recently issued accounting pronouncements that were adopted during the quarter ended March 31, 2014 or that are expected to impact the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

Tree.com's Principles of Financial Reporting

We report Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization, adjusted for certain items discussed below (Adjusted EBITDA), as a
supplemental measure to GAAP. This measure is one of the primary metrics by which we evaluate the performance of our businesses, on which our internal
budgets are based and by which management is compensated. We believe that investors should have access to the same set of tools that we use in analyzing
our results. This non-GAAP measure should be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be considered a substitute
for or superior to GAAP results. We provide and encourage investors to examine the reconciling adjustments between the GAAP and non-GAAP measure
discussed below.

Definition of Adjusted EBITDA

We report Adjusted EBITDA as operating income or loss (which excludes interest expense and taxes) adjusted to exclude amortization of intangibles and
depreciation, and to further exclude (1) non-cash compensation expense, (2) non-cash intangible asset impairment charges, (3) gain/loss on disposal of assets,
(4) restructuring and severance expenses, (5) litigation settlements and contingencies and legal fees for certain patent litigation, (6) adjustments for significant
acquisitions or dispositions, and (7) one-time items. Adjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in that it does not take into account the impact to our statement
of operations of certain expenses, including depreciation, non-cash compensation and acquisition-related accounting. We endeavor to compensate for the
limitations of the non-GAAP measures presented by also providing the comparable GAAP measures with equal or greater prominence and descriptions of the
reconciling items, including quantifying such items, to derive the non-GAAP measures. These non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures used by other companies.

One-Time Items

Adjusted EBITDA is adjusted for one-time items, if applicable. Items are considered one-time in nature if they are non-recurring, infrequent or unusual
and have not occurred in the past two years or are not expected to recur in the next two years, in accordance with SEC rules. For the periods presented in this
report, there are no adjustments for one-time items, except for $0.9 million related to a discretionary cash bonus payment to employee stock option holders in
the first quarter of 2013.

Non-Cash Expenses that are Excluded from Adjusted EBITDA



Non-cash compensation expense consists principally of expense associated with grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock options. These
expenses are not paid in cash, and we include the related shares in our calculations of fully diluted shares outstanding. Upon settlement of restricted stock
units, exercise of certain stock options or vesting of restricted stock awards, the awards may be settled, on a net basis, with us remitting the required tax
withholding amount from our current funds.

Amortization of intangibles are non-cash expenses relating primarily to intangible assets acquired through acquisitions. At the time of an acquisition, the
intangible assets of the acquired company, such as purchase agreements, technology and customer relationships, are valued and amortized over their estimated
lives.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We do not have any financial instruments that are exposed to significant market risk. We maintain our cash and cash equivalents in short-term, highly
liquid money market investments. A hypothetical 100-basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would not have a material impact on the fair
value of our cash equivalents and marketable securities or our results of operations or cash flows.

Fluctuations in interest rates affect consumer demand for new mortgages and the level of refinancing activity which, in turn, affects lender demand for
mortgage leads. Typically, a decline in mortgage interest rates will lead to reduced lender demand for leads from third-party sources, as there are more
consumers in the marketplace seeking refinancings and, accordingly, lenders receive more organic lead volume. Conversely, an increase in mortgage interest
rates will typically lead to an increase in lender demand for third-party leads, as there are fewer consumers in the marketplace and, accordingly, the supply of
organic mortgage lead volume decreases.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), management, with the participation of our
principal executive officer (our Chief Executive Officer) and principal financial officer (our Chief Financial Officer), evaluated, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon that evaluation,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective, as of March 31, 2014, to
reasonably ensure that information required to be disclosed and filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified, and that management will be timely alerted to material information required to be included in our periodic reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our first fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are party to litigation involving property, contract, intellectual property and a variety of other claims. The amounts
that may be recovered in such matters may be subject to insurance coverage. We have provided information about certain legal proceedings in which we are
involved in Part I, Item 3 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 10-K"), and updated that information in Note
11 to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Other than the risk factor set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors included in Part I, Item 1A—Risk Factors of the 2013
Form 10-K.

We may fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing intellectual property rights of third parties.

We regard our intellectual property rights, including patents, service marks, trademarks and domain names, copyrights, trade secrets and similar
intellectual property (as applicable), as critical to our success. Our businesses also rely heavily upon software codes, informational databases and other
components that make up their products and services.

We rely on a combination of laws and contractual restrictions with employees, customers, suppliers, affiliates and others to establish and protect these
proprietary rights. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use trade secrets or copyrighted intellectual
property without authorization which, if discovered, might require legal action to correct. In addition, third parties may independently and lawfully develop
substantially similar intellectual properties.

We have generally registered and continue to apply to register, or secure by contract when appropriate, our principal trademarks and service marks as
they are developed and used, and reserve and register domain names when and where we deem appropriate. We generally consider the protection of our
trademarks to be important for purposes of brand maintenance and reputation. While we vigorously protect our trademarks, service marks and domain names,
effective trademark protection may not be available or may not be sought in every country in which products and services are made available, and contractual
disputes may affect the use of marks governed by private contract. Similarly, not every variation of a domain name may be available or be registered, even if
available. Our failure to protect our intellectual property rights in a meaningful manner or challenges to related contractual rights could result in erosion of
brand names and limit our ability to control marketing on or through the Internet using our various domain names or otherwise, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have been granted patents and we have patent applications pending with the United States Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign patent
authorities for various proprietary technologies and other inventions. The status of any patent involves
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complex legal and factual questions, and the breadth of claims allowed is uncertain. Accordingly, any patent application filed may not result in a patent being
issued, and any issued patents may not be adjudicated valid by a court or afford adequate protection against competitors with similar technology. In March
2014, a federal jury found our two issued patents invalid due to inventorship defects. In addition, third parties may create new products or methods that
achieve similar results without infringing upon patents that we own.

Likewise, the issuance of a patent to us does not mean that our processes or inventions will be found not to infringe upon patents or other rights
previously issued to third parties.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of business we are subjected to legal proceedings, claims and counterclaims, or threatened legal proceedings,
claims or counterclaims, including allegations of infringement of the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. In
addition, litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of
proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigation of this nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of
management and technical resources, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Patent litigation tends to
be particularly protracted and expensive. During the first quarter of 2014, we participated in a jury trial for the litigation described in Note 11—
Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. The legal expenses associated with this jury trial were material, and
negatively affected our results of operations for 2013 and the first quarter of 2014. We have filed a notice of appeal, and certain matters remain pending with
the court, including the Company's motions for a new trial and to correct inventorship and the defendants’ motions for sanctions and awards of attorneys'
fees. Accordingly, we will continue to incur expenses on this matter, and these expenses together with the possibility of an adverse result on any of these
post-trial matters may have a material adverse effect on our future financial condition and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On January 11, 2010, the board of directors approved a stock repurchase program which allowed for the repurchase of up to $10 million of our common
stock. At March 31, 2014, approximately $0.8 million remained authorized for share repurchase under this program. On May 7, 2014, the board of directors
authorized an additional $10 million to the stock repurchase program. Under this program, we can repurchase stock in the open market or through privately-
negotiated transactions. We began this program in February 2010 and we have used available cash to finance these repurchases. We will determine the timing
and amount of any additional repurchases based on our evaluation of market conditions, applicable SEC guidelines and regulations, and other factors. This
program may be suspended or discontinued at any time at the discretion of our board of directors. We did not repurchase any equity securities during the
quarter ended March 31, 2014.

Additionally, the Tree.com Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock and Award Incentive Plan allows employees to forfeit shares of our common stock
to satisfy federal and state withholding obligations upon the exercise of stock options, the settlement of restricted stock unit awards and the vesting of
restricted stock awards granted to those individuals under this plan. During the quarter ended March 31, 2014, all of the shares purchased were related to
these obligations under the Tree.com Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock and Award Incentive Plan. The withholding of those shares does not affect the
dollar amount or number of shares that may be purchased under the stock repurchase program described above.
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The following table provides information about the company's purchases of equity securities during the quarter ended March 31, 2014.

Maximum
Total Number of Number/Approximate
Shares Purchased as Dollar Value of Shares
Part of Publicly that May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans or Purchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share Programs Plans or Programs @

(in thousands)

January 2014 3,638 $ 32.63 — 3 771
February 2014 84,131 $ 33.00 — 3 771
March 2014 387 $ 31.96 — 3 771
Total 88,156 $ 32.98 — 3 771

(a) The $0.8 million reflected excludes the additional $10 million authorized by the board of directors on May 7, 2014 to the stock repurchase program.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Description Location
10.1  Employment Agreement dated January 9, 2014 between Tree.com, Inc. and Douglas R. Lebda T
10.2  Employment Agreement dated January 9, 2014 between Tree.com, Inc. and Gabriel Dalporto T
10.3  Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award T
10.4  Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award T
10.5 Form of Notice of Stock Option Award T
31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act T
of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act T
of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the T
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the T
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document T
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document T
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document T
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Tt
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document T
101.PRE =~ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document T

T Filed herewith

T1 This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the registrant, whether made before or after the date hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

711 Furnished herewith. Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 7, 2014

TREE.COM, INC.
By: /s/ ALEXANDER MANDEL
Alexander Mandel

Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer and duly authorized officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), dated as of January 9, 2014 (the "Agreement Date"), is entered into by and between Douglas R.
Lebda ("Employee") and Tree.com, Inc. (the "Company").

WHEREAS, Employee is currently serving as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company;

WHEREAS, Employee and the Company were parties to an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated October 26, 2010 (the "Prior
Agreement") which expired on January 6, 2013; and

WHEREAS, Employee and the Company now wish to enter into this Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements hereinafter set forth, Employee and the Company have agreed and do hereby agree as
follows:

1A. EMPLOYMENT. The Company agrees to continue to employ Employee as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as of the Agreement Date and
Employee accepts and agrees to such employment. During Employee's employment with the Company, Employee shall perform all services and acts
necessary or advisable to fulfill the duties and responsibilities as are commensurate and consistent with Employee's position and shall render such services on
the terms set forth herein. During Employee's employment with the Company, Employee shall report to the Board of Directors of the Company. Employee
agrees to devote all of Employee's working time, attention and efforts to the Company and to perform the duties of Employee's position in accordance with
the Company's policies as in effect from time to time.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, Employee may serve as a corporate board member for up to two (2) organizations as Employee may
reasonably determine from time to time, provided said service does not (a) interfere with Employee's ability to perform his duties for the Company as
contemplated hereunder, and (b) compete with, or present an actual or apparent conflict of interest for, the Company, which shall be determined by the Board
of Directors of the Company, in its sole, good faith judgment. The Company acknowledges that as of the Agreement Date, Employee is serving as a
corporate board member for Recyclebank, Inc.

2A. TERM OF AGREEMENT. The term ("Term") of this Agreement shall commence on the Agreement Date and shall continue through the third
anniversary of the Agreement Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of Section 1 of the Standard Terms and Conditions attached
hereto; provided that certain terms and conditions herein may specify a greater period of effectiveness. Employee and the Company will enter into good faith
negotiations to extend the Term no later than six months prior to the end of the Term, provided, that Employee has provided written notice to the Company
between eight and six months prior to the end of the Term which sets forth his interest in entering into such negotiations. For purposes of clarity, if the
Agreement is not renewed in accordance with this Section 2A, the Agreement shall automatically expire at the end of the Term. Such expiration shall not
entitle Employee to any compensation or benefits except as earned by Employee through the date of expiration of the Term.

3A. COMPENSATION.

(a) BASE SALARY. During the Term, the Company shall pay Employee an annual base salary of $600,000 (the "Base Salary") payable in equal
biweekly installments or in such other installments as may be in accordance with the Company's standard payroll practices as in effect from time to time. The
Base Salary shall be reviewed by the Company as the Company determines to be appropriate or, if requested by Employee in writing, no less frequently than
annually in a manner consistent with similarly situated executives of the Company and may be increased but not decreased. For all purposes under this
Agreement, the term "Base Salary" shall refer to the Base Salary as in effect from time to time.
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(b) ANNUAL BONUS. During the Term, Employee shall be eligible to receive a target annual bonus of up to 125% of his Base Salary with respect to
each fiscal year of the Company (each a "Performance Year") during the Term, beginning with the Performance Year that began on January 1, 2013. The
terms and conditions of the annual bonus, including the applicable performance criteria for a Performance Year, and the amount of the annual bonus payable
to Employee for a Performance Year, if any, shall be determined by the Company's Compensation Committee in its sole discretion. Except as expressly
provided in this Agreement, the annual bonus will be paid in accordance with Company's standard policies and procedures for the payment of annual bonuses
to its other similarly situated employees.

(o) BENEFITS. During the Term, Employee shall be eligible to participate in any welfare, health, life insurance, pension benefit and incentive plans,
programs, policies and practices as may be adopted from time to time by the Company on the same basis as that provided to similarly situated employees of
the Company generally. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Employee shall be eligible for the following benefits:

@) Reimbursement for Business Expenses. During the Term, the Company shall reimburse Employee for all reasonable and necessary
expenses incurred by Employee in performing Employee's duties for the Company, on the same basis as similarly situated employees of the
Company generally and in accordance with the Company's policies as in effect from time to time.

(ii) Vacation. During the Term, Employee shall be eligible for paid vacation in accordance with the plans, policies, programs and practices of
the Company applicable to similarly situated employees of the Company generally.

4A. NOTICES. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by first-class mail, certified or
registered with return receipt requested or hand delivery acknowledged in writing by the recipient personally, and shall be deemed to have been duly given
three days after mailing or immediately upon duly acknowledged hand delivery, as applicable, to the respective persons named below:

If to the Company: Tree.com, Inc.
11115 Rushmore Drive
Charlotte, NC 28277
Attention: Senior Vice President of Human Resources & Administration

If to the Employee: At the most recent address on file at the Company.
Either party may change such party's address for notices by notice duly given pursuant hereto.

5A. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION. This Agreement and the legal relations thus created between the parties hereto shall be governed by and
construed under and in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina without reference to the principles of conflicts of laws. Any and all disputes
between the parties which may arise pursuant to this Agreement will be heard and determined solely before an appropriate federal court in the State of North
Carolina, or, if not maintainable therein, then in an appropriate North Carolina state court. The parties acknowledge that such courts have jurisdiction to
interpret and enforce the provisions of this Agreement, and the parties consent to, and waive any and all objections that they may have as to, personal
jurisdiction and/or venue in such courts.

6A. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same instrument. Employee expressly understands and acknowledges that the Standard Terms and Conditions attached
hereto are incorporated herein by reference, deemed a part of this Agreement and are binding and enforceable provisions of this Agreement. References to
"this Agreement" or the use of the term "hereof' shall refer to this Agreement and the Standard Terms and Conditions attached hereto, taken as a whole.

7A. EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any prior agreement
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Page 2 of 14



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered by its duly authorized officer and Employee has executed
and delivered this Agreement as of the date set forth above.

TREE.COM

By: /s/ E. Claudette Hampton

Name: E. Claudette Hampton

Title: Senior Vice President, Human Resources & Administration
EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Douglas R. Lebda

Name: Douglas R. Lebda

Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYEE'S EMPLOYMENT.

(a) DEATH. Upon termination of Employee's employment prior to the expiration of the Term by reason of Employee's death, the Company
shall pay Employee's designated beneficiary or beneficiaries, within 30 days of Employee's death in a lump sum in cash, (i) Employee's Base Salary
from the date of Employee's death through the end of the month in which Employee's death occurs and (ii) any Accrued Obligations (as defined in
Section 1(f) below).

(b) DISABILITY. Upon termination of Employee's employment prior to expiration of the Term by reason of Employee's Disability, the
Company shall pay Employee, within 30 days of such termination in a lump sum in cash, (i) Employee's Base Salary from the date of Employee's
termination of employment due to Disability through the end of the month in which such termination occurs, offset by any amounts payable to
Employee under any disability insurance plan or policy provided by the Company and (ii) any Accrued Obligations (as defined in

Section 1(f) below). "Disability" shall mean a condition, resulting from bodily injury or disease, that renders, and for a six consecutive month period
has rendered, Employee unable to perform substantially the duties pertaining to his employment with the Company. A return to work of less than 14
consecutive days will not be considered an interruption in Employee's six consecutive months of disability. Disability will be determined by the
Company on the basis of medical evidence satisfactory to the Company.

(c) TERMINATION FOR CAUSE: RESIGNATION BY EMPLOYEE WITHOUT GOOD REASON. The Company may terminate
Employee's employment under this Agreement with or without Cause at any time. Upon termination of Employee's employment prior to expiration
of the Term by the Company for Cause or upon Employee's resignation without Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further
obligation by the Company, except for the payment of any Accrued Obligations (as defined in Section 1(f) below) within thirty (30) days of such
termination. As used herein, "Cause" shall mean: (i) the plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, or conviction for, a felony offense; provided however ,
that after indictment, the Company may suspend Employee from the rendition of services, but without limiting or modifying in any other way the
Company's obligations to Employee under this Agreement; provided , further that Employee's employment shall be immediately reinstated if the
indictment is dismissed or otherwise dropped and there is not otherwise grounds to terminate Employee's employment for Cause; (ii) a material
breach by Employee of a fiduciary duty owed to the Company; (iii) a material breach by Employee of any of the covenants made by Employee in
Section 2 hereof; or (iv) the willful or gross neglect by Employee of the material duties required by this Agreement. Before a cessation of
Employee's employment shall be deemed to be a termination of Employee's employment for Cause, (A) the Company shall provide written notice to
Employee that identifies the conduct described in clauses (ii), (iii) or (iv) above, as applicable, and (B) in the event that the event or condition is
curable, Employee shall have failed to remedy such event or condition within 30 days after Employee shall have received the written notice from the
Company described above. As used herein, "Good Reason" shall mean the occurrence of any of the following without Employee's written consent,
(i) a material adverse change in Employee's, title, duties, operational authorities or reporting responsibilities as they relate to Employee's position as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from those in effect immediately following the Agreement Date, excluding for this purpose
any such change that is an isolated and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and that is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Employee, (ii) a material reduction in Employee's annual base salary, (iii) a relocation of Employee's principal place of business
more than 25 miles from the Charlotte, North Carolina metropolitan area, or (iv) a material breach by the Company of this Agreement, excluding for
this purpose any such action that is an isolated and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and that is remedied by the Company promptly after
receipt of notice thereof given by the Employee.
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(d TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY OTHER THAN FOR DEATH, DISABILITY OR CAUSE; RESIGNATION BY EMPLOYEE
FOR GOOD REASON. Upon termination of Employee's employment with the Company prior to expiration of the Term (i) by the Company without
Cause (other than for death or Disability) or (ii) upon Employee's resignation for Good Reason (either such termination, a "Qualifying Termination"),
Employee shall receive the payments and benefits described in clauses (A) through (C) below, but only if Employee executes and does not revoke a
general release of the Company and its affiliates substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Release") and Employee complies with
Sections 2(a) through 2(e). If Employee does not execute the Release within forty-five (45) days following the Qualifying Termination, or if
Employee revokes the Release (the end of the permitted revocation period following execution without revocation being exercised, the "Release
Effective Date"), Employee's entitlement to the payments and benefits described in clauses (A) through (C) below shall immediately become null
and void.

(A) An amount (the "Severance Amount") equal to the greater of:

(i) the amount of Base Salary (calculated using Employee's then-current Base Salary) that Employee would have received had his
employment continued over the period commencing on the date of the Qualifying Termination and ending on the second anniversary of the
date of the Qualifying Termination, or

(ii) one times Employee's then-current Base Salary plus Employee's target annual bonus for the bonus program in effect for Employee for
the year in which Employee's employment terminates.

The Severance Amount shall be paid in substantially equal payments over two years in accordance with the Company's normal payroll
practices in effect at the time of Employee's termination of employment beginning on the regularly scheduled payroll date immediately
following the Release Effective Date;. provided, however, that if the Severance Amount is determined to be "nonqualified deferred
compensation" that is subject to Section 409A (as defined below), then the first installment shall be made on the sixtieth (60™) day
following the date of the Qualifying Termination and shall include the amount of all payments that would have been made after the Release
Effective Date but before the sixtieth (60™") day following such Qualifying Termination, and the remaining Severance Amount shall be
payable in installments as specified above on the Company's regularly scheduled payroll dates following the sixtieth (60") day following
such Qualifying Termination;

(B) a lump sum cash payment equal to any Accrued Obligations payable within thirty (30) days of the Qualifying Termination; and

(C) to the extent previously granted, the Employee shall be fully vested in all outstanding equity awards that he holds on the termination date, and
any Company stock option awards shall remain exercisable for a period of twenty-four months from the date of such termination; provided that no
option will be exercisable beyond the outside date for exercise specified therein or beyond termination of such option for a reason other than
Employee's termination of service. Employee understands that any incentive stock options he holds will no longer be deemed incentive stock options
under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), if exercised more than three months after termination of employment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Employee's resignation be for Good Reason unless (x) an event or circumstance set forth in any of
clauses (i) through (iv) of the definition thereof shall have occurred and Employee provides the Company with written notice thereof within forty-
five (45) days after Employee has knowledge of the occurrence or existence of such event or circumstance, which notice specifically identifies the
event or circumstance that Employee believes constitutes Good Reason, (y) the Company fails to correct the circumstance or event so identified
within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such notice, and (z) Employee resigns within ninety (90) days after the date of delivery of the notice
referred to in clause (x) above.

Page 5 of 14



(e) MITIGATION; OFFSET. In the event of a termination of Employee's employment prior to the end of the Term, in no event shall Employee
be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of severance benefits or other compensation or benefits. If
Employee obtains other employment during the Term, the amount of any severance payments to be made to Employee under Section 1(d) hereof
after the date such employment is secured shall be offset by the amount of compensation earned by Employee from such employment through the
end of the Term. For purposes of this Section 1(e), Employee shall have an obligation to inform the Company promptly regarding Employee's
employment status following termination and during the period encompassing the Term.

® ACCRUED OBLIGATIONS. As used in this Agreement, "Accrued Obligations" shall mean the sum of (i) any portion of Employee's
accrued but unpaid Base Salary through the date of death or termination of employment for any reason, as the case may be; (ii) any compensation
previously earned but deferred by Employee (together with any interest or earnings thereon) that has not yet been paid, (iii) any reasonable and
necessary business expenses incurred by Employee prior to the date of termination of employment but not yet reimbursed and (iv) any benefits
earned by Employee but unpaid or unused at the date of termination of employment provided that the payout of these benefits is consistent with the
plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company at the date of termination of employment.

(8 QUALIFYING TERMINATION WITHIN ONE YEAR FOLLOWING CHANGE IN CONTROL. Reference is made to the change in
control letter issued by Company to certain executives of Company, as the same may be revised from time to time (the "CIC Letter"). In the event
that Employee experiences a Qualifying Termination within the one-year period following a Change in Control (as defined in the CIC Letter), the
terms of the CIC Letter, as it may be amended from time to time, shall control and supersede the terms of this Agreement with respect to any benefits
or payments which would otherwise be due hereunder.

2. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; NON-COMPETE; NON-SOLICITATION; AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS. Executive covenants as follows,
except in the event of a Qualifying Termination within one year following a Change in Control (in which instance, Executive agrees to be bound by the terms
of the CIC Letter):

(a) CONFIDENTIALITY. Employee acknowledges that while employed by the Company, Employee will occupy a position of trust and
confidence. Employee shall not, except as may be required to perform Employee's duties hereunder or as required by applicable law, disclose to
others or use, whether directly or indirectly, any Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" shall mean information about the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, and their clients and customers that is not disclosed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates for
financial reporting purposes and that was learned by Employee in the course of employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates,
including without limitation any proprietary knowledge, trade secrets, data, formulae, information and client and customer lists and all papers,
resumes, and records (including computer records) of the documents containing such Confidential Information. Employee acknowledges that such
Confidential Information is specialized, unique in nature and of great value to the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates, and that such
information gives the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates a competitive advantage. Employee agrees to deliver or return to the Company, at the
Company's request at any time or upon termination or expiration of Employee's employment or as soon thereafter as possible, all documents,
computer tapes and disks, records, lists, data, drawings, prints, notes and written information (and all copies thereof) furnished by the Company and
its subsidiaries or affiliates or prepared by Employee in the course of Employee's employment by the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates. As
used in this Agreement, "affiliates" shall mean any company controlled by, controlling or under common control with the Company.

(b) NON-COMPETITION. During the Term and for a period of 24 months beyond Employee's date of termination of employment for any
reason following the date hereof (the "Restricted Period"), Employee shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or
indirectly, engage in or become associated with a Competitive Activity. For purposes of this Section 2(b): (i) a "Competitive Activity" means any
business or other endeavor, in any state of the United States or a comparable jurisdiction in
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Canada or any other country, involving products or services that are the same or similar to the type of products or services that the Company is
engaged in providing both (x) as of the date hereof or at any time during the Term and (y) at any time during the twelve (12) month period preceding
Employee's termination of employment, and (ii) Employee shall be considered to have become "associated with a Competitive Activity" if Employee
becomes directly or indirectly involved as an owner, principal, employee, officer, director, independent contractor, representative, stockholder,
financial backer, agent, partner, member, advisor, lender, or in any other individual or representative capacity with any individual, partnership,
corporation or other organization that is engaged in a Competitive Activity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Employee may make and retain
investments during the Restricted Period, for investment purposes only, in less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding capital stock of any
publicly-traded corporation engaged in a Competitive Activity if the stock of such corporation is either listed on a national stock exchange or on the
NASDAQ National Market System if Employee is not otherwise affiliated with such corporation and (ii) Employee may become employed by a
partnership, corporation or other organization that is engaged in a Competitive Activity so long as Employee has no direct or indirect responsibilities
or involvement in the Competitive Activity. Notwithstanding the foregoing and exclusively with respect to Employee's termination of employment
pursuant to Section 1(g), the Restricted Period shall be reduced from 24 months to 12 months following Employee's date of termination, solely to the
extent applicable to Competitive Activity unrelated to online lending.

(o) NON-SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES. During the Restricted Period, Employee shall not, without the prior written consent of the
Company, directly or indirectly, hire or recruit or solicit the employment or services of (whether as an employee, officer, director, agent, consultant
or independent contractor), any employee, officer, director, agent, consultant or independent contractor of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates (except for such employment or hiring by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates); provided, however that this

Section 2(c) shall not apply to any hiring which results solely from a general solicitation of employment that was not directed to employees of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing and exclusively with respect to Employee's termination of
employment pursuant to Section 1(g), the Restricted Period shall be reduced from 24 months to 12 months following Employee's date of termination,
solely to the extent applicable to Competitive Activity unrelated to online lending.

(d) NON-SOLICITATION OF BUSINESS PARTNERS. During the Restricted Period, Employee shall not, without the prior written consent of
the Company, directly or indirectly, solicit, attempt to do business with, or do business with any business partners or business affiliates of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or those affiliates of the Company that are engaged in a Competitive Activity, or encourage (regardless of who
initiates the contact) any such business partners or business affiliates to use the services of any competitor of the Company, its subsidiaries or
affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing and exclusively with respect to Employee's termination of employment pursuant to Section 1(g), the
Restricted Period shall be reduced from 24 months to 12 months following Employee's date of termination, solely to the extent applicable to
Competitive Activity unrelated to online lending.

(e) PROPRIETARY RIGHTS; ASSIGNMENT. All Employee Developments shall be made for hire by Employee for the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or affiliates. "Employee Developments" means any idea, discovery, invention, design, method, technique, improvement,
enhancement, development, computer program, machine, algorithm or other work or authorship that (i) relates to the business or operations of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, or (ii) results from or is suggested by any undertaking assigned to the Employee or work performed
by the Employee for or on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, whether created alone or with others, during or after working
hours. All Confidential Information and all Employee Developments shall remain the sole property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates. The Employee shall acquire no proprietary interest in any Confidential Information or Employee Developments developed or acquired
during the Term. To the extent the Employee may, by operation of law or otherwise, acquire any right, title or interest in or to any Confidential
Information or Employee Development, the Employee hereby assigns to the Company all such proprietary rights. The Employee shall, both during
and after the Term, upon the Company's request,
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promptly execute and deliver to the Company all such assignments, certificates and instruments, and shall promptly perform such other acts, as the
Company may from time to time in its discretion deem necessary or desirable to evidence, establish, maintain, perfect, enforce or defend the
Company's rights in Confidential Information and Employee Developments.

® COMPLIANCE WITH POLICIES AND PROCEDURES. During the Term, Employee shall adhere to the policies and standards of
professionalism set forth in the Company's policies and procedures as they may exist from time to time.

(g) REMEDIES FOR BREACH. Employee expressly agrees and understands that Employee will notify the Company in writing of any alleged
breach of this Agreement by the Company, and the Company will have 30 days from receipt of Employee's notice to cure any such breach.

Employee expressly agrees and understands that the remedy at law for any breach by Employee of this Section 2 will be inadequate and that
damages flowing from such breach are not usually susceptible to being measured in monetary terms. Accordingly, it is acknowledged that upon
Employee's violation of any provision of this Section 2, in addition to any remedy that the Company may have at law, the Company shall be entitled
to obtain from any court of competent jurisdiction immediate injunctive relief and obtain a temporary order restraining any threatened or further
breach as well as an equitable accounting of all profits or benefits arising out of such violation. Nothing in this Section 2 shall be deemed to limit the
Company's remedies at law or in equity for any breach by Employee of any of the provisions of this Section 2, which may be pursued by or available
to the Company.

(h) SURVIVAL OF PROVISIONS. The obligations contained in this Section 2 shall, to the extent provided in this Section 2, survive the
termination or expiration of Employee's employment with the Company and, as applicable, shall be fully enforceable thereafter in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement. If it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in any state that any restriction in this Section 2 is excessive in
duration or scope or is unreasonable or unenforceable under the laws of that state, it is the intention of the parties that such restriction may be
modified or amended by the court to render it enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by the law of that state. If any of the covenants of this
Section 2 are determined to be wholly or partially unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such determination shall not be a bar to or in any way diminish
the rights of the Company or its affiliates, as applicable, to enforce any such covenant in any other jurisdiction.

3. WAIVER OF PRIOR AGREEMENTS. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, and Employee acknowledges that he
has waived, effective as of the Agreement Date, any and all rights under prior agreements and understandings (whether written or oral) between Employee
with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. Employee acknowledges and agrees that neither the Company nor anyone acting on its behalf has made,
and is not making, and in executing this Agreement, the Employee has not relied upon, any representations, promises or inducements except to the extent the
same is expressly set forth in this Agreement.

4. ASSIGNMENT; SUCCESSORS. This Agreement is personal in its nature and none of the parties hereto shall, without the consent of the others,
assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or obligations hereunder; provided that, in the event of a merger, consolidation, transfer, reorganization, or sale
of all, substantially all or a substantial portion of the assets of the Company with or to any other individual or entity, this Agreement shall, subject to the
provisions hereof, be binding upon and inure to the benefit of such successor and such successor (including the Company upon assignment of this Agreement)
shall discharge and perform all the promises, covenants, duties, and obligations of the Company hereunder, and all references herein to the "Company" shall
refer to such successor.

5. WITHHOLDING. The Company shall make such deductions and withhold such amounts from each payment and benefit made or provided to
Employee hereunder, as may be required from time to time by applicable law, governmental regulation or order.
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6. HEADING REFERENCES. Section headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a
part of this Agreement for any other purpose. References to "this Agreement" or the use of the term "hereof' shall refer to these Standard Terms and
Conditions and the Employment Agreement attached hereto, taken as a whole.

7. WAIVER; MODIFICATION. Failure to insist upon strict compliance with any of the terms, covenants, or conditions hereof shall not be deemed a
waiver of such term, covenant, or condition, nor shall any waiver or relinquishment of, or failure to insist upon strict compliance with, any right or power
hereunder at any one or more times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of such right or power at any other time or times. This Agreement shall not be
modified in any respect except by a writing executed by each party hereto.

8. SEVERABILITY. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any portion of this Agreement is in violation of any law or
public policy, only the portions of this Agreement that violate such law or public policy shall be stricken. All portions of this Agreement that do not violate
any statute or public policy shall continue in full force and effect. Further, any court order striking any portion of this Agreement shall modify the stricken
terms as narrowly as possible to give as much effect as possible to the intentions of the parties under this Agreement.

9. INDEMNIFICATION. The Company shall indemnify and hold Employee harmless for acts and omissions in Employee's capacity as an officer,
director or employee of the Company to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law; provided , however that neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries or affiliates shall indemnify Employee for any losses incurred by Employee as a result of acts that would constitute Cause under Section 1(c) of
this Agreement. This Section 9 shall survive the termination or expiration of Employee's employment with the Company and, as applicable, shall be fully
enforceable thereafter in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

10. SECTION 280G LIMITATION. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that any payment or benefit received or to
be received by Employee (all such payments and benefits being hereinafter referred to as the "Total Payments") would not be deductible (in whole or part) by
the Company or any affiliates making such payment or providing such benefit as a result of Section 280G of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code") then, to the extent necessary to make such portion of the Total Payments deductible (and after taking into account any reduction in the
Total Payments required by any similar reduction or elimination provision contained in such other plan, arrangement or agreement), the portion of the Total
Payments that does not constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" under Section 409A of the Code shall first be reduced (if necessary, to zero), and all
other Total Payments shall thereafter be reduced (if necessary, to zero) with, in each case, cash payments being reduced before non-cash payments (and,
within each category, payments to be paid last being reduced first); provided, however, that such reduction shall only be made if the amount of such Total
Payments, as so reduced (and after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such reduced Total Payments) is greater than or
equal to the amount of such Total Payments without such reduction (but after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such Total
Payments and the amount of the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code on such unreduced Total Payments). Any determination required to be
made under this paragraph shall be made by independent tax counsel reasonably acceptable to both Employee and the Company, and shall be paid for by the
Company ("Tax Counsel").

It is possible that, after the determinations and selections made pursuant to the foregoing paragraph, Employee will receive payments and/or benefits that are,
in the aggregate, either more or less than the amount determined under such paragraph (hereafter referred to as an "Excess Payment" or "Underpayment"”, as
applicable). If Tax Counsel determines that an Excess Payment has been made, then Employee shall promptly repay the Excess Payment to Employer,
together with interest on the Excess Payment at the applicable federal rate (as defined in Section 1274(d) of the Code) from the date of Employee's receipt of
such Excess Payment until the date of such repayment. If Tax Counsel determines that an Underpayment has occurred, Company shall promptly (but in any
event within ten (10) days of such determination) pay to Employee an amount equal to the Underpayment, together with interest on such amount at the
applicable federal rate from the date such amount would have been paid to Employee had the provisions of the foregoing paragraph not been applied until the
date of payment.
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11. SECTION 409A. The parties intend that any amounts payable hereunder shall comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code ("Section
409A") (including under Treasury Regulation §§ 1.409A-1(b)(4) ("short-term deferrals") and (b)(9) ("separation pay plans," including the exceptions under
subparagraph (iii) and subparagraph (v)(D)) and other applicable provisions of Treasury Regulation §§ 1.409A-1 through A-6). For purposes of Section
409A, each of the payments that may be made under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a separate payment. Employee and Company agree to negotiate in
good faith to make amendments to the Agreement, as the parties mutually agree are necessary or desirable to avoid the imposition of taxes, penalties or
interest under Section 409A. Neither Employee nor Company shall have the right to accelerate or defer the delivery of any such payments or benefits except
(i) where payment may be made within a certain period of time, the timing of payment within such period will be in the sole discretion of Company, and (ii)
to the extent specifically permitted or required by Section 409A. With respect to the time of payments of any amounts under the Agreement that are "deferred
compensation" subject to Section 409A, references in the Agreement to "termination of employment" (and substantially similar phrases) shall mean
"separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if Employee is considered a
"specified employee" under Section 409A upon his separation from service and if payment of any amounts on account of Employee's separation from service
under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six months after separation from service in order to avoid taxation under Section 409A,
payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section 409A, and the accumulated amounts shall be paid in a lump sum payment within five
business days after the end of the six-month delay period. If Employee dies during the six-month delay period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts
withheld on account of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Employee's estate within 60 days after the date of Employee's death. For
the avoidance of doubt, it is intended that any expense reimbursement made to Employee hereunder shall be exempt from Section 409A. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if any expense reimbursement made hereunder shall be determined to be "deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A, then (i) the
amount of the expense reimbursement during one taxable year shall not affect the amount of the expense reimbursement during any other taxable year, (ii) the
expense reimbursement shall be made on or before the last day of Employee's taxable year following the year in which the expense was incurred and (iii) the
right to expense reimbursement hereunder shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit. While it is intended that all payments and
benefits provided to Employee under this Agreement will be exempt from or comply with Section 409A, Company makes no representation or covenant to
ensure that such payments and benefits are exempt from or compliant with Section 409A. Company will have no liability to Employee or any other party if a
payment or benefit under this Agreement or otherwise is challenged by any taxing authority or is ultimately determined not to be exempt or
compliant. Employee further understands and agrees that Employee will be entirely responsible for any and all taxes imposed on Employee as a result of this
Agreement.

12. RECOUPMENT. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any payments made or granted pursuant to this Agreement shall be
subject to any recoupment or clawback policy that may be adopted by the Company from time to time and to any requirement of applicable law, regulation or
listing standard that requires the Company to recoup or clawback compensation paid.
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ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

Date: January 9, 2014

TREE.COM

By: /s/ E. Claudette Hampton

Name: E. Claudette Hampton

Title: Senior Vice President, Human Resources & Administration
EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Douglas R. Lebda

Name: Douglas R. Lebda

Title: Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Release Agreement ("Release") is entered into as of this day of , hereinafter "Execution Date", by and between [Employee Full
Name] (hereinafter "Employee"), and Tree.com, Inc. (hereinafter, the "Company"). The Employee and the Company are sometimes collectively referred to as
the "Parties".

1. The Employee's employment with the Company is terminated effective [Month, Day, Year] (hereinafter "Termination Date"). The
Parties have agreed to avoid and resolve any alleged existing or potential disagreements between them arising out of or connected with the Employee's
employment with the Company including the termination thereof. The Company expressly disclaims any wrongdoing or any liability to the Employee.

2. The Company agrees to provide the Employee the severance benefits provided for in Section [1(d)][1(g)] of his/her Employment
Agreement (the "Severance Benefits") with the Company, dated as of [ ], after he/she executes this Release [FOR 40+ and does not revoke it as permitted in
Section 8 below, the expiration of such revocation period being the "Effective Date")].

3. Employee represents that he/she has not filed, and will not file, any complaints, lawsuits, administrative complaints or charges
relating to her employment with, or resignation from, the Company, excluding any action to enforce the Employment Agreement as it relates to the provision
of the Severance Benefits or to Sections 3A(d) or 9[; provided , however , that nothing contained in this Section 3 shall prohibit you from bringing a claim to
challenge the validity of the ADEA Release in Section 8 herein]. Employee agrees to release the Company, its subsidiaries, affiliates, and their respective
parents, direct or indirect subsidiaries, divisions, affiliates and related companies or entities, regardless of its or their form of business organization, any
predecessors, successors, joint ventures, and parents of any such entity, and any and all of their respective past or present shareholders, partners, directors,
officers, employees, consultants, independent contractors, trustees, administrators, insurers, agents, attorneys, representatives and fiduciaries, including
without limitation all persons acting by, through, under or in concert with any of them (collectively, the "Released Parties"), from any and all claims, charges,
complaints, causes of action or demands of whatever kind or nature that Employee now has or has ever had against the Released Parties, whether known or
unknown, arising from or relating to Employee's employment with or discharge from the Company, including but not limited to: wrongful or tortious
termination; constructive discharge; implied or express employment contracts and/or estoppel; discrimination and/or retaliation under any federal, state or
local statute or regulation, specifically including any claims Employee may have under the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act,
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended, and the Family and Medical Leave Act; the discrimination or other employment laws of the State of

[ 1(1); any claims brought under any federal or state statute or regulation for non-payment of wages or other compensation, including grants of stock
options or any other equity compensation; and libel, slander, or breach of contract other than the breach of this Release. This Release specifically excludes
claims, charges, complaints, causes of action or demand that post-date the Termination Date [or the Effective Date, whichever is later].

4. Employee agrees to keep the fact that this Release exists and the terms of this Release in strict confidence except to his/her
immediate family and his/her financial and legal advisors on a need-to-know basis.

5. Employee warrants that no promise or inducement has been offered for this Release other than as set forth herein and that this
Release is executed without reliance upon any other promises or representations, oral or written. Any modification of this Release must be made in writing

and be signed by Employee and the Company.

6. Employee will direct all employment verification inquiries to [HR Rep]. In response to inquiries regarding Employee's employment
with the Company, the Company by and through its speaking agent
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(s) agrees to provide only the following information: Employee's date of hire, the date her employment ended and rates of pay.

7. If any provision of this Release or compliance by Employee or the Company with any provision of the Release constitutes a
violation of any law, or is or becomes unenforceable or void, then such provision, to the extent only that it is in violation of law, unenforceable or void, will
be deemed modified to the extent necessary so that it is no longer in violation of law, unenforceable or void, and such provision will be enforced to the fullest
extent permitted by law. If such modification is not possible, such provision, to the extent that it is in violation of law, unenforceable or void, will be deemed
severable from the remaining provisions of this Release, which provisions will remain binding on both Employee and the Company. This Release is governed
by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of [ ], without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Employee consents to venue
and personal jurisdiction in the State of [ ] for disputes arising under this Release. This Release represents the entire understanding with the Parties with
respect to subject matter herein, no oral representations have been made or relied upon by the Parties.

8. [FOR EMPLOYEES OVER 40 ONLY - In further recognition of the above, Employee hereby releases and discharges the Released
Parties from any and all claims, actions and causes of action that he/she may have against the Released Parties, as of the date of the execution of this Release,
arising under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended ("ADEA"), and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
The Employee acknowledges and understands that ADEA is a federal statute that prohibits discrimination on the basis of age in employment, benefits and
benefit plans. Employee specifically agrees and acknowledges that: (A) the release in this Section 8 was granted in exchange for the receipt of consideration
that exceeds the amount to which he/she would otherwise be entitled to receive upon termination of his/her employment; (B) his/her waiver of rights under
this Release is knowing and voluntary as required under the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; (B) that he/she has read and understands the terms of this
Release; (C) he/she has hereby been advised in writing by the Company to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release; (D) the Company has
given him/her a period of up to twenty-one (21) days within which to consider this Release, which period shall be waived by the Employee's voluntary
execution prior to the expiration of the twenty-one day period; and (E) following his/her execution of this Release he/she has seven (7) days in which to
revoke his/her release as set forth in this Section 8 only and that, if he/she chooses not to so revoke, the Release in this Section 8 shall then become effective
and enforceable and the payment listed above shall then be made to his/her in accordance with the terms of this Release. To cancel this Release, Employee
understands that he/she must give a written revocation to the General Counsel of the Company at [ ],either by hand delivery or certified mail within the
seven-day period. If he/she rescinds the Release, it will not become effective or enforceable and he/she will not be entitled to any benefits from the Company.]

9. EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT HE/SHE HAS CAREFULLY READ AND VOLUNTARILY
SIGNED THIS RELEASE, THAT HE/SHE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF HIS/HER CHOICE, AND
THAT HE/SHE SIGNS THIS RELEASE WITH THE INTENT OF RELEASING THE COMPANY, ITS AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES AND
THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS, DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS.
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ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:

[Company Name] [Employee Full Name]

Dated: Dated:
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Exhibit 10.2

EMPL.OYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into this 9" day of January 2014 (the "Effective Date") by
and between Tree.com, Inc. ("Employer") and Gabriel Dalporto ("Executive") (each a "Party" and collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, Executive has substantial expertise in online marketing; and

WHEREAS, Employer desires to continue to secure Executive's service and expertise in connection with Employer's
business beginning on the Effective Date; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements contained herein, Employer and
Executive hereby agree as follows:

1.  Employment. Upon the Effective Date, Employer shall employ and Executive agrees to be employed as Chief Marketing
Officer and President, Mortgage. Executive shall do and perform all services and acts necessary or advisable to fulfill the duties and
responsibilities as are commensurate and consistent with Executive's position and shall render such services on the terms set forth
herein. Further, executive shall perform such different or other duties as may be assigned to Executive by Employer from time to
time by Employer's Chief Executive Officer. Executive will devote Executive's full working time and best efforts to the diligent and
faithful performance of such duties as may be entrusted to Executive from time to time by Employer, and shall observe and abide
by the corporate policies and decisions of Employer in all business matters. Executive's principal place of employment shall be the
offices of Employer located in Burlingame, CA; provided, however, that travel to the Employer's other offices or places of business
activity may occasionally be required. Executive acknowledges that Employer may, in its sole discretion from time to time, change
Executive's responsibilities or his direct/indirect reports without any effect hereunder.

2. Term.

a. Initial Term. Executive's employment shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement for the period beginning
on the Effective Date and for one year from such date, unless earlier terminated as provided herein (the "Initial Term"). This
Agreement will expire by its terms unless renewed in the manner set forth in Section 2.b below.

b. Renewal Terms. Upon the written request of the Executive to extend the Executive's term of employment under
this Agreement at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the Agreement, the Employer's Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors (the "Compensation Committee") shall consider extending the term of this Agreement. If Executive's request for
an extension is approved by the Compensation Committee, this Agreement shall be extended by one additional year. Each such
additional one-year period shall be referred to as a "Renewal Term" and, together with the Initial Term, the "Term". The maximum
number of Renewal Terms shall be six; following the sixth Renewal Term, the Agreement shall automatically expire. For purposes
of clarity, if the Agreement is not renewed in accordance with this Section 2.b, the Agreement shall
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automatically expire at the end of the then-current term. Such expiration shall not entitle Executive to any compensation or benefits
except as earned by Executive through the date of expiration or the then-current term.

3.  Compensation. Employer shall pay and Executive shall accept as full consideration for the services to be rendered
hereunder compensation consisting of the items listed below. Employer shall have no obligation to pay any such compensation for
any period after the termination of Executive's employment, except as otherwise expressly provided.

(a) Base salary, paid pursuant to Employer's normal payroll practices, at an annual rate of $350,000 or such other rate
as may be established prospectively by the Compensation Committee from time to time ("Base Salary"). All such Base Salary
payments shall be subject to deduction and withholding authorized or required by applicable law.

(b) Annual Bonus. During the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to receive a target annual bonus ("Annual
Bonus") of up to 60% of his Base Salary with respect to each fiscal year of Employer (each a "Performance Year") during the Term,
beginning with the Performance Year that began on January 1, 2013. The terms and conditions of the Annual Bonus, including the
applicable performance criteria for a Performance Year, and the amount of the Annual Bonus payable to the Executive for a
Performance Year, if any, shall be determined by the Employer's Compensation Committee. Except as expressly provided in this
Agreement, the Annual Bonus will be paid in accordance with the Employer's standard policies and procedures for the payment of
annual bonuses to its other similarly situated employees.

(© Equity Incentives. During the Term, Executive shall be eligible to receive equity incentives, as determined in the
discretion of the Compensation Committee, including, but not limited to restricted stock unit awards and/or stock options. Subject
to the discretion of the Compensation Committee, equity incentives shall be granted to the Executive at the time the Employer
normally grants such incentives generally and otherwise in accordance with applicable policies, practices, terms and conditions
(including, but not limited to, vesting requirements), and provided further that Executive is employed by Employer on the date such
incentives are awarded.

(d Vacation and other Paid Time Off. During the Term, Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation and other paid
time off each year, in accordance with applicable plans, policies, programs and practices applicable to similarly situated employees
generally.

(e) Other. Such other benefits, payments, or items of compensation as are provided under the employee benefit plans
of the Employer, or as are made available from time to time under compensation policies set by Employer for management
employees of Employer having similar salary and level of responsibility.

® Reimbursement. Employer shall reimburse Executive, in accordance with the general policies and practices of
Employer as in effect from time to time, for normal out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Executive in the ordinary course of
business, including without limitation,



Employer's standard mileage allowance for business use of any personal vehicle, business related travel, customer entertainment,
and professional organizations.

4.  Disability or Death.

(a) Disability. If at any time during the Term of this Agreement, Executive incurs a Disability (as defined below),
Executive's employment shall be immediately terminated as of the date of Executive's Disability. Upon executive's Disability,
Employer shall pay Executive, in a single lump sum cash payment, on the next regularly scheduled payroll date following the date
of such termination, an amount equal to the Accrued Obligations (as defined below); provided, however, that any Annual Bonus
amounts payable as part of the Accrued Obligations shall be paid on the date that such amounts are paid by Employer to other
executives in accordance with the Company's Annual Bonus plan as in effect at the date of such termination. For purposes of this
Agreement, Executive shall be considered to have incurred a "Disability" if Executive has incurred a permanent and total disability
(and no reasonable accommodation can be made to permit Executive to perform essential functions of his job) as determined under
Employer's long-term disability plan applicable to Executive.

(b) Death. If Executive should die during the Term, Executive's employment and Employer's obligations hereunder
(other than pro rata payment of Base Salary) shall terminate as of Executive's death. In such event, Employer shall pay Executive's
estate, in a single lump sum on the next regularly scheduled payroll date following the date of such termination, the Accrued
Obligations; provided, however, that any Annual Bonus amounts payable as part of the Accrued Obligations shall be paid on the
date that such amounts are paid by Employer to other similarly situated executives in accordance with the Employer's Annual
Bonus plan as in effect at the date of such termination. As used in this Agreement, "Accrued Obligations" shall mean the sum of (i)
Executive's earned but unpaid Base Salary, (ii) any portion of Executive's earned but unpaid Annual Bonus relating to a previously
completed Performance Year, (iii) any earned but unpaid Annual Bonus relating to the Performance Year in which the Executive is
terminated; (iv) any compensation previously earned but deferred by Executive (together with any interest or earnings thereon) that
has not yet been paid and that is not otherwise to be paid at a late date pursuant to the executive deferred compensation plan of
Employer, if any, and (v) reimbursements that Executive is entitled to receive under paragraph 3(f) of the Agreement.

5. Termination by Employer.

(@ Cause. Employer may terminate the employment of Executive under this Agreement during its Term for Cause.
"Cause" shall include Executive's fraud, dishonesty, theft, embezzlement, misconduct by Executive injurious to the Employer or
any of its affiliates, conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a crime that constitutes a felony or other crime
involving moral turpitude, competition with Employer or any of its affiliates, unauthorized use of any trade secrets of Employer or
any of its affiliates or Confidential Information (as defined below), a material violation of any policy, code or standard of ethics
generally applicable to employees of the Employer, Executive's material breach of fiduciary duties owed to Employer, Executive's
excessive and unexcused absenteeism unrelated to a disability, or, following written notice and a reasonable
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opportunity to cure, gross neglect by Executive of the duties assigned to Executive. In such event (i) no further Base Salary shall be
paid to Executive after the date of termination, and (ii) Executive shall not be eligible to receive any Annual Bonus relating to the
Performance Year in which Executive's employment terminates in accordance with this paragraph. Executive shall retain only such
rights to participate in other benefits as are required by the terms of those plans, Employer's polices, or applicable law.

(b) Termination by Employer other than for Death, Disability or Cause. Upon termination of Executive's employment
with Employer prior to the expiration of the Term by Executive for Good Reason or by Employer without Cause (other than for
death or Disability) ("Qualifying Termination"), Employer shall pay Executive the amounts described below. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Executive shall receive the payments and benefits described in subparagraphs (ii) - (iv) below if Executive executes and
does not revoke a general release of Employer and its affiliates in a form substantially similar to that used for similarly situated
executives of the Employer and its affiliates ("Release of Claims") and Executive complies with the restrictive covenants set forth
herein. If Executive does not execute the Release of Claims within sixty (60) days following the Qualifying Termination, or if
Executive revokes the Release of Claims (the end of the permitted revocation period following execution without revocation being
exercised, the "Release of Claims Effective Date"), Executive's entitlement to the payments and benefits described in
subparagraphs (ii) - (iv) below shall immediately become null and void. "Good Reason" shall mean the occurrence of any of the
following without Executive's written consent: (i) material adverse change in Executive's title or the office to which Executive
reports from those in effect immediately following the Effective Date, excluding for this purpose any such change that is an isolated
and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and that is remedied by Employer promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by
Executive or that is authorized pursuant to this Agreement and further excluding a change in the office to which Executive reports
due to internal restructuring, realignment or the resignation, promotion, demotion or a reorganization of mangers within Employer;
(ii) material reduction in Executive's annual base salary; or (iii) relocation of Executive's principal place of business more than 50
miles from the San Francisco, CA metropolitan area. In order to resign his employment for Good Reason, Executive must notify
Employer in writing within fifteen (15) days of the initial existence of any event falling under (i) - (iii) and such notice shall
describe in detail the facts and circumstances explaining why Executive believes a Good Reason event has occurred. Employer
shall then have sixty (60) days following its receipt of such notice to cure or remedy such alleged Good Reason event such that
Good Reason will not be deemed to exist for such event. If the event remains uncured or is not remedied by Employer within such
sixty (60) day period and if Executive's employment has not otherwise been terminated, then a Qualifying Termination shall
automatically occur on the first business day following the end of such sixty (60) day cure/remedy period.

@) An amount equal to all Accrued Obligations within 30 days following the date of such Qualifying
Termination, except for (a) accrued wages which shall be paid on date of the Qualifying Termination and (b)
Annual Bonus amounts which shall be paid on the date that such amounts are paid by Employer to other
similarly situated executives in accordance with Employer's Annual Bonus plan as in effect at the date of
such termination.



(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

An amount equal to one (1) year of Executive's then-current Base Salary, payable in installments on
Employer's regularly scheduled payroll dates over the one (1) year period following the date of such
Qualifying Termination ("Salary Continuation Payments") beginning on the regularly scheduled payroll date
immediately following the Release of Claims Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Salary
Continuation Payments are determined to be "nonqualified deferred compensation" that is subject to Section
409A (as defined below), then the first installment shall be made on the sixtieth (60") day following the date
of Executive's Qualifying Termination and shall include the amount of all payments that would have been
made after the effective date of the Release of Claims but before the sixtieth (60"") day following such
Qualifying Termination, and the remaining Salary Continuation Payments shall be payable in installments on
Employer's regularly scheduled paydays following the Sixtieth (60") day following such Qualifying
Termination.

Payment of premiums for continuation of health care coverage under COBRA for a period equal to one (1)
year from the loss of coverage at the same level in effect at the time of termination of Executive's
employment, provided that Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage.

If the Qualifying Termination occurs between March 1 and December 31, all Executive's Restricted Stock
Units ("RSUs") issued pursuant to Tree.com, Inc.'s 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan (the "Plan") that
have future vesting dates between the date of Qualifying Termination and February 28 of the following
calendar year shall remain in effect until February 28 of the following year, based on the performance of
transition services in accordance with Section 12, and will vest in the amounts set forth therein on the stated
vesting dates (or if later, the Release of Claims Effective Date) that occur through February 28 of the
following calendar year, and all other RSUs issued to Executive pursuant to the Plan shall terminate as of the
date of such Qualifying Termination. If the Qualifying Termination occurs between January 1 - February 28,
all Executive's RSUs issued pursuant to the Plan that have future vesting dates between the date of
Qualifying Termination and February 28 of the calendar year in which the Qualifying Termination occurs,
shall remain in effect until the later of February 28 of such calendar year or the Release of Claims Effective
Date, based on the performance of transition services in accordance with Section 12, and will vest in the
amounts set forth therein on the stated vesting dates (or if later, the Release of Claims Effective Date) that
occur through February 28 of such calendar year, and all other RSUs issued to Executive pursuant to the Plan
shall terminate as of the date of such Qualifying Termination. In addition, in the event that a Qualifying
Termination occurs between January 1, 2014 - February 28, 2014, Executive's RSUs scheduled to vest on
April 18, 2014 shall, based on the performance of transition services in accordance with Section 12, remain
in



effect until the later of April 18, 2014 and the Release of Claims Effective Date, and will vest on April 18,
2014 (or, if later, the Release of Claims Effective Date). All RSUs that vest pursuant to this subsection (iv)
shall settle in accordance with the terms of such RSUs. All RSUs that are extended pursuant to this
subsection (iv) shall terminate upon the last vesting date provided for in this subsection (iv). For the
avoidance of doubt, no RSUs shall vest on a date later than the date of the Qualifying Termination unless
Executive has executed the Release of Claims within sixty (60) days following the Qualifying Termination
and not revoked the same.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Executive obtains other employment or is otherwise compensated for services during the
period in which he is receiving Salary Continuation Payments ("Severance Period"), Employer's obligation to make future
payments to Executive under subparagraph (ii) above shall be offset against any compensation earned by Executive as a result of
employment with or services provided to a third party. Executive agrees to inform Employer promptly of his employment status
and any amounts so earned during the Severance Period. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the payments described in
paragraph 5(b) above constitute good and valuable consideration for such Release of Claims.

6. Change in Control. Reference is made to the change in control letter issued by Employer to certain executives of
Employer, as the same may be revised from time to time (the "CIC Letter"). In the event that Executive experiences a Qualifying
Termination within the one-year period following a Change in Control (as defined in the CIC Letter), the terms of the CIC Letter,
as it may be amended from time to time, shall control and supersede the terms of this Agreement with respect to any benefits or
payments which would otherwise be due hereunder.

7.  Confidential Information and Return of Property. "Confidential Information" means any written, oral, or other information
obtained by Executive in confidence from Employer, or any of its affiliates, including without limitation information about their
respective operations, financial condition, business commitments or business strategy, as a result of Executive's employment with
Employer unless such information is already publicly known through no fault of any person bound by a duty of confidentiality to
Employer or any of its affiliates. Executive will not at any time, during or after Executive's employment with Employer, directly or
indirectly disclose Confidential Information to any person or entity other than authorized officers, directors and employees of
Employer. Executive will not at any time, during or after Executive's employment with Employer, in any manner use Confidential
Information on behalf of himself or any other person or entity other than Employer, or accept any position in which Executive
would have a duty to any person to use Confidential Information against the interests of Employer or any of its affiliates. Upon
termination of Executive's employment for any reason, Executive will promptly return to Employer all property of Employer,
including documents and computer files, especially where such property contains or reflects Confidential Information. Nothing in
this Agreement shall be interpreted or shall operate to diminish such duties or obligations of Executive to Employer that arise or
continue in effect after the termination of Executive's employment hereunder, including without limitation any such duties or
obligations to maintain confidentiality or refrain from adverse use of any of Employer's trade
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secrets or other Confidential Information that Executive may have acquired in the course of Executive's employment.

8.  Disclosure and Ownership of Work Related Intellectual Property. Executive shall disclose fully to Employer any and all
intellectual property (including, without limitation, inventions, processes, improvements to inventions and processes, and
enhancements to inventions and processes, whether or not patentable, formulae, data and computer programs, related
documentation and all other forms of copyrightable subject matter) that Executive conceives, develops or makes during the term of
Executive's employment, whether or not within the original Term of this Agreement, and that in whole or in part result from or
relate to Executive's work for Employer (collectively, "Work Related Intellectual Property"). Any such disclosure shall be made
promptly after each item of Work Related Intellectual Property is conceived, developed or made by Executive, whichever is sooner.
Executive acknowledges that all Work Related Intellectual Property that is copyrightable subject matter and which qualifies as
"work made for hire" shall be automatically owned by Employer. Further, Executive hereby assigns to Employer any and all rights
which Executive has or may have in Work Related Intellectual Property that is copyrightable subject matter and that, for any
reason, does not qualify as "work made for hire." If any Work Related Intellectual Property embodies or reflects any preexisting
rights of Executive, Executive hereby grants to Employer the irrevocable, perpetual, nonexclusive, worldwide, and royalty-free
license to use, reproduce, display, perform, distribute copies of and prepare derivative works based upon such preexisting rights and
to authorize others to do any or all of the foregoing.

9. Restrictive Covenants. Executive covenants as follows, except in the event of a Qualifying Termination within one year
following a Change in Control (in which instance, Executive agrees to be bound by the terms of the CIC Letter):

a. Noncompetition. In consideration of this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration provided
hereunder, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Executive, Executive hereby agrees and covenants that
during the Term and for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter (together , the "Restricted Period"), Executive shall not, without
the prior written consent of Employer, directly or indirectly, engage in or become associated with a Competitive Activity.
"Competitive Activity" means any business or other endeavor, in any state of the United States, involving products or services that
are the same or similar to the type of products or services that the Employer is engaged in providing both (x) as of the date hereof
or at any time during the Term and (y) at any time during the twelve (12) month period preceding Executive's termination of
employment. Executive shall be considered to have become "associated with a Competitive Activity" if Executive becomes
directly or indirectly involved as an owner, principal, employee, officer, director, independent contractor, representative,
stockholder, financial backer, agent, partner, member, advisor, lender, or in any other individual or representative capacity with any
individual, partnership, corporation or other organization that is engaged in a Competitive Activity.

b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive may make and retain investments during the Restricted Period, in less
than one percent (1%) of the outstanding capital stock of any publicly traded corporation engaged in a Competitive Activity if the
stock of such corporation is either listed



on a national stock exchange or on the NASDAQ Stock Market if Executive is not otherwise affiliated with such corporation.

C. Non-solicitation of Employees. Executive recognizes that he will possess Confidential Information about other
employees, consultants and contractors of Employer and its subsidiaries or affiliates relating to their education, experience, skills,
abilities, compensation and benefits and interpersonal relationships with suppliers to and customers of Employer and its
subsidiaries or affiliates. Executive recognizes that the information he will possess about these other employees, consultants and
contractors is not generally known, is of substantial value to Employer and its subsidiaries or affiliates in developing their
respective businesses and in securing and retaining customers, and will be acquired by Executive because of Executive's position
with Employer. Executive agrees that during the Restricted Period (i) Executive will not, directly or indirectly, solicit or recruit any
person then employed by the Employer and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates with whom Executive has had direct contact
during his employment, in all cases for the purpose of being employed by Executive or by any business, individual, partnership,
firm, corporation or the entity on whose behalf Executive is acting as an agent, representative or employee; and (ii) Executive will
not convey any such Confidential Information or trade secrets about employees of the Employer or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates to any other person except within the scope of Executives duties hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon a
termination of Executive's employment by Employer for any reason other than for Cause, the restrictions set forth immediately
above shall apply for a period of twelve (12) months following such termination in the case of employees with whom Executive
had a direct working relationship prior to his employment with Employer, its subsidiaries, and/or affiliates.

d. Non-Solicitation of Customers. During the Restricted Period, Executive shall not solicit any Customers of
Employer or encourage (regardless of who initiates the contact) any such Customers to use the facilities or services of any
competitor of Employer. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Customers" means any persons or entities that purchased products or
services from Employer within twelve (12) calendar months of the termination of Executive's employment.

e. Executive acknowledges that the restrictions, prohibitions and other provisions herein, including, without
limitation, the Restricted Period, are reasonable, fair and equitable in terms of duration and scope, are necessary to protect the
legitimate business interests of Employer, and are a material inducement to Employer to enter into this Agreement.

10. Remedies for Breach. Executive acknowledges and agrees that a breach of any of the covenants made by Executive in
Sections 7, 8 and 9 above would cause irreparable harm to Employer or any of its affiliates for which there would be no adequate
remedy at law. Accordingly, the parties agree that in the event of any breach or attempted breach by Executive of any of the
provisions of Sections 7, 8 and/or 9, Employer shall be entitled to institute and prosecute proceedings at law or in equity with
respect to such breach, and, if successful, to recover such costs, expenses, and reasonable attorney's fees as may be incurred in
connection with such proceedings. The parties further agree that, to the extent Employer institutes and prosecutes proceedings at
law or in equity against Executive for an alleged breach, and such action is unsuccessful, Executive is entitled to recover such
costs, expenses, and reasonable attorneys' fees as may be incurred in connection with
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such proceedings. If Executive breaches Section 8 above, the duration of the period identified shall be computed from the date
Executive resumes compliance with the covenant or from the date Employer is granted injunctive or other equitable relief by a
court of competent jurisdiction enforcing the covenant, whichever shall first occur, reduced by the number of days Executive was
not in breach of the covenant after termination of employment, or any delay in filing suit, whichever is greater.

11.  Survival of Obligations. Executive's obligations under Sections 7, 8 and 9 of this Agreement shall survive the
termination of Executive's employment and this Agreement, regardless of the reason for or method of termination. Each of the
provisions in these Sections shall be enforceable independently of every other provision, and the existence of any claim or cause of
action Executive may have against Employer, whether predicated on this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to
the enforcement of these Sections of the Agreement by Employer.

12.  Actions After Termination. Executive agrees that for one year following Executive's termination from Employer,
regardless of the reason for the termination, Executive will continue to make himself available for reasonable consultation with
Employer and Employer's agents and employees regarding Executive's prior work for Employer. In no event shall such services in a
given month exceed 20% of the average monthly level of services performed by Executive over the 36-month period immediately
preceding the date on which Executive's employment terminated. In addition, Executive shall make himself reasonably available
for interviews by Employer's counsel, depositions, and/or appearances before courts or administrative agencies upon Employer's
reasonable request. Executive agrees that if Executive is contacted by any government agency with reference to Employer's
business, or by any person contemplating or maintaining any claim or legal action against Employer, or by any agent or attorney of
such person, Executive will, to the extent permitted by law, promptly notify Employer of the substance of Executive's
communications with such person. Employer agrees to reimburse any reasonable expenses (and, after any Severance Period,
reasonable compensation for lost income) incurred by Executive in connection with this Section 12, provided that such expenses
shall have been preapproved in writing by Employer.

13.  Section 280G Limitation. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that any payment or
benefit received or to be received by Executive (all such payments and benefits being hereinafter referred to as the "Total
Payments") would not be deductible (in whole or part) by the Employer or any affiliates making such payment or providing such
benefit as a result of Section 280G of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") then, to the extent
necessary to make such portion of the Total Payments deductible (and after taking into account any reduction in the Total Payments
required by any similar reduction or elimination provision contained in such other plan, arrangement or agreement), the portion of
the Total Payments that does not constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" under Section 409A of the Code shall first be
reduced (if necessary, to zero), and all other Total Payments shall thereafter be reduced (if necessary, to zero) with, in each case,
cash payments being reduced before non-cash payments (and, within each category, payments to be paid last being reduced first);
provided, however, that such reduction shall only be made if the amount of such Total Payments, as so reduced (and after
subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such reduced Total Payments) is greater than or equal to the
amount of such Total Payments without such reduction (but after




subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes on such Total Payments and the amount of the excise tax
imposed under Section 4999 of the Code on such unreduced Total Payments). Any determination required to be made under this
paragraph shall be made by independent tax counsel reasonably acceptable to both Executive and the Employer, and shall be paid
for by the Employer ("Tax Counsel").

It is possible that, after the determinations and selections made pursuant to the foregoing paragraph, Executive will receive
payments and/or benefits that are, in the aggregate, either more or less than the amount determined under such paragraph (hereafter
referred to as an "Excess Payment" or "Underpayment", as applicable). If Tax Counsel determines that an Excess Payment has been
made, then Executive shall promptly repay the Excess Payment to Employer, together with interest on the Excess Payment at the
applicable federal rate (as defined in section 1274(d) of the Code) from the date of Executive's receipt of such Excess Payment until
the date of such repayment. If Tax Counsel determines that an Underpayment has occurred, Employer shall promptly (but in any
event within ten (10) days of such determination) pay to Executive an amount equal to the Underpayment, together with interest on
such amount at the applicable federal rate from the date such amount would have been paid to Executive had the provisions of the
foregoing paragraph not been applied until the date of payment.

14.  Section 409A. The parties intend that any amounts payable hereunder shall comply with or be exempt from Section
409A of the Code ("Section 409A") (including under Treasury Regulation §§ 1.409A-1(b)(4) ("short-term deferrals") and (b)(9)
("separation pay plans," including the exceptions under subparagraph (iii) and subparagraph (v)(D)) and other applicable provisions
of Treasury Regulation §8§ 1.409A-1 through A-6). For purposes of Section 409A, each of the payments that may be made under
this Agreement shall be deemed to be a separate payment. Executive and Employer agree to negotiate in good faith to make
amendments to the Agreement, as the parties mutually agree are necessary or desirable to avoid the imposition of taxes, penalties or
interest under Section 409A. Neither Executive nor Employer shall have the right to accelerate or defer the delivery of any such
payments or benefits except (i) where payment may be made within a certain period of time, the timing of payment within such
period will be in the sole discretion of Employer, and (ii) to the extent specifically permitted or required by Section 409A. With
respect to the time of payments of any amounts under the Agreement that are "deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A,
references in the Agreement to "termination of employment" (and substantially similar phrases) shall mean "separation from
service" within the meaning of Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if Executive is
considered a "specified employee" under Section 409A upon his separation from service and if payment of any amounts on account
of Executive's separation from service under this Agreement is required to be delayed for a period of six months after separation
from service in order to avoid taxation under Section 409A, payment of such amounts shall be delayed as required by Section
409A, and the accumulated amounts shall be paid in a lump sum payment within five business days after the end of the six-month
delay period. If Executive dies during the six-month delay period prior to the payment of benefits, the amounts withheld on account
of Section 409A shall be paid to the personal representative of Executive's estate within 60 days after the date of Executive's death.
For the avoidance of doubt, it is intended that any expense reimbursement made to Executive hereunder shall be exempt from
Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any expense reimbursement made hereunder shall be determined
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to be "deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A, then (i) the amount of the expense reimbursement during one
taxable year shall not affect the amount of the expense reimbursement during any other taxable year, (ii) the expense
reimbursement shall be made on or before the last day of Executive's taxable year following the year in which the expense was
incurred and (iii) the right to expense reimbursement hereunder shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
While it is intended that all payments and benefits provided to Executive under this Agreement will be exempt from or comply with
Section 409A, Employer makes no representation or covenant to ensure that such payments and benefits are exempt from or
compliant with Section 409A. Employer will have no liability to Executive or any other party if a payment or benefit under this
Agreement or otherwise is challenged by any taxing authority or is ultimately determined not to be exempt or compliant. Executive
further understands and agrees that Executive will be entirely responsible for any and all taxes imposed on Executive as a result of
this Agreement.

15.  Assignment. Employer may assign this Agreement to any other entity acquiring all or substantially all of the assets or
stock of Employer or to any other entity into which or with which Employer may be merged or consolidated. Upon such
assignment, merger, or consolidation, the rights of Employer under this Agreement, as well as the obligations and liabilities of
Employer hereunder, shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the assignee, successor-in-interest, or transferee of Employer
and Employer shall have no further obligations or liabilities hereunder. This Agreement is not assignable in any respect by
Executive.

16.  Notices. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by first-class
mail, certified or registered with return receipt requested or by hand deliver, or by overnight delivery by a national recognized
carrier, in each case to the applicable address set forth below, and any such notice is deemed effectively given which received by
recipient (or if receipt is refused by recipient, when so refused):

If to Employer:  Tree.com, Inc.
11115 Rushmore Dr.
Charlotte, NC 28277
Attn: General Counsel

If to Executive: At the most recent address for Executive on file with Employer.
Either party may change such party's address for notices by notice duly given pursuant hereto.

17.  Invalid Provisions. It is not the intention of either Party to violate any public policy, or any statutory or common law. If
any sentence, paragraph, clause or combination of the same in this Agreement is in violation of the law of any State where
applicable, such sentence, paragraph, clause or combination of the same shall be void in the jurisdictions where it is unlawful, and
the remainder of the Agreement shall remain binding on the Parties. However, the Parties agree, and it is their desire that a court
should substitute for each such illegal, invalid or unenforceable covenant a
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reasonable and judicially-enforceable limitation in its place, and that as so modified the covenant shall be as fully enforceable as if
set forth herein by the Parties themselves in the modified form.

18.  Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, , relating to the subject matter hereof, including, but not
limited to (i) that certain Letter Agreement dated as of September 9, 2012 by and between Employer and Executive and (ii) that
certain Letter Agreement dated April 11, 2011 by and between Executive and Employer. This Agreement may be amended in
whole or in part only by an instrument in writing setting forth the particulars of such amendment and duly executed by both Parties.

19.  Multiple Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

20.  Governing_Law;_Jurisdiction. The validity, construction, interpretation and enforceability of this Agreement and the
capacity of the parties shall be determined and governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina, without regard to the conflict of
law rules contained therein. Any litigation under this Agreement shall be brought by either Party exclusively in Mecklenburg
County, North Carolina. As such, the Parties irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction of the courts in Mecklenburg County, North
Carolina (whether federal or state) for all disputes related to this Agreement and irrevocably consent to service via nationally
recognized overnight carrier, without limiting other service methods allowed by applicable law. In addition, the Parties irrevocably
waive any right to a trial by jury in any action related to this Agreement.

21.  Taxes. All payments made under this Agreement shall be subject to Employer's withholding of all required foreign,
federal, state and local income and employment/payroll taxes, and all payments shall be net of such tax withholding.

22.  Recoupment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any payments made or granted pursuant to
this Agreement shall be subject to any recoupment or clawback policy that may be adopted by the Company from time to time and
to any requirement of applicable law, regulation or listing standard that requires the company to recoup or clawback compensation
paid.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first written above.

Employer

By: /s/ E. Claudette Hampton
E. Claudette Hampton

Senior Vice President - Human Resources &
Administration

Tree.com

Executive

By: /s/ Gabriel Dalporto
Gabriel Dalporto
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Exhibit 10.3

Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award Granted Under the
Tree.com, Inc. 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan

Important Note: You must login to your account to obtain other important information concerning this Award, such as a copy of the Tree.com 2008
Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time up to the date of this Award (the "2008 Plan") and
the Terms and Conditions for Restricted Stock Unit Awards (the "Terms and Conditions"). Additional copies of these documents are also available
on the MyEquity page of the Company intranet or upon request from your Human Resources Department. You acknowledge that you have received
copies of the Plan and the Plan's prospectus.

Award Recipient:

Restricted Stock Unit Restricted stock units ("RSUs") granted under the 2008 Plan.

Award:

Unit Award:

Award Date:

Vesting Schedule: Subject to your continuous employment with Tree.com or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, your RSUs shall,

subject to the provisions of the 2008 Plan and the Terms and Conditions, vest and no longer be subject to
any restriction as of the vesting dates and the achievement of any applicable performance goals, as set forth

below:
Impact of a Termination of Except as otherwise provided in the 2008 Plan or in the Terms and Conditions, or any Individual Agreement,
Employment: all of your unvested RSUs will be forfeited and canceled without consideration in their entirety upon a

Termination of Employment.

Terms and Conditions: Capitalized terms used (but not defined) in this Award Notice shall have the meanings set forth in the 2008
Plan.

Your RSUs are subject to the Terms and Conditions and to the 2008 Plan. We strongly encourage you to
review the Terms and Conditions and the 2008 Plan. These documents will help provide you with a full
understanding of your RSU award.

Terms and Conditions for Restricted Stock Unit Award
Overview

These Terms and Conditions apply to the restricted stock units (the "Award") awarded to you by Tree.com, Inc. ("Tree.com" or the "Company") pursuant to
Section 7 of the Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time up to the date of this Award
(the "2008 Plan"). You were notified of your Award by way of an award notice (the "Award Notice"). All capitalized terms used herein, to the extent not
defined, shall have the meaning as set forth in the 2008 Plan.

Continuous Service

In order for RSUs to vest, you must be continuously employed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during the Restriction Period (as defined
below) or as otherwise provided in the Vesting section below. Nothing in your Award Notice, these Terms and Conditions, or the 2008 Plan shall confer upon
you any right to continue in the employ or service of Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or interfere in any way with their rights to terminate
your employment or service at any time and for any or no reason.

Vesting
Subject to the Award Notice, these Terms and Conditions and the 2008 Plan, the RSUs in respect to your Award, shall vest and no longer be subject to

satisfaction of any restriction on the dates and subject to any applicable performance conditions (such period during which restrictions apply is the
"Restriction Period") as follows:



The vesting of your Award is conditioned upon your continuous employment with Tree.com or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates through each respective vesting
date.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, 100% of your then-outstanding and unvested portion of your Award shall vest upon the occurrence of a Change in Control
which occurs during your employment with Tree. Com (or any Subsidiary or Affiliate). The term "Change in Control" is defined in the 2008 Plan, and
includes certain events affecting Tree.com (not events only affecting specific businesses of Tree.com).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event you experience a Termination of Employment due to your death or Disability, then 100% of your then-
outstanding and unvested portion of your Award shall vest upon such Termination of Employment.

[Include any other specific vesting events approved by the Compensation Committee.]
Termination of Employment

Upon the Termination of your Employment with Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during the Restriction Period for any reason, any unvested
portion of this RSU Award shall be forfeited and canceled in its entirety without consideration effective immediately upon such Termination of Employment.

For the avoidance of doubt, transfers of employment among the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, without any break in service, is not a
Termination of Employment.

Settlement

Subject to your satisfaction of the tax obligations described immediately below under "Taxes and Withholding," as soon as practicable after any RSUs in
respect of your Award have vested and are no longer subject to the Restriction Period (but in no event later than two and one-half months after the end of the
fiscal year in which the RSUs vest), such RSUs shall be settled. For each RSU settled, Tree.com shall issue one Share (or cash equivalent) for each RSU that
has vested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tree.com shall be entitled to hold the Shares or cash issuable to you upon settlement of all RSUs that have vested
until Tree.com or the agent selected by Tree.com to administer the 2008 Plan (the "Agent") has received from you (i) a duly executed Form W-9 or W-8 and
(ii) payment for any federal, state, local or foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such RSUs.

Taxes and Withholding

No later than the date as of which an amount in respect of any RSUs first becomes includable in your gross income for federal, state, local or foreign income
or employment or other tax purposes, Tree.com or its Subsidiaries and/or Affiliates shall, unless prohibited by law, have the right to deduct any federal, state,
local or foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such amount due to you, including deducting such amount from the delivery
of Shares or cash issued upon settlement of the RSUs that gives rise to the withholding requirement. In the event Shares are deducted to cover tax
withholdings, the number of Shares withheld shall generally have a Fair Market Value equal to the aggregate amount of Tree.com's withholding obligation on
the date of settlement. If the event that any such deduction and/or withholding is prohibited by law, you shall, prior to or contemporaneously with the
settlement of your RSUs, be required to pay to Tree.com, or make arrangements satisfactory to Tree.com regarding the payment of, any federal, state, local or
foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to such amount.

Non-Transferability of the RSUs

Until such time as your RSUs are ultimately settled, they shall not be transferable by you by means of sale, assignment, exchange, encumbrance, pledge,
hedge or otherwise.

No Rights as a Stockholder

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the 2008 Plan, unless and until your RSUs are settled with Shares, you shall not be entitled to any rights of a
stockholder with respect to the RSUs (including the right to vote the underlying Shares or receive dividends). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tree.com
declares and pays dividends on the Common Stock during the Restriction Period for particular RSUs in respect of your Award, you will be credited with
additional amounts for each RSU underlying such Award equal to the dividend that would have been paid with respect to such RSU as if it had been an actual
share of Common Stock, which amount shall remain subject to restrictions (and as determined by the Committee may be



reinvested in RSUs or may be held in kind as restricted property) and shall vest concurrently with the vesting of the RSUs upon which such dividend
equivalent amounts were paid (and shall be settled at the same time as the underlying RSUs and also subject to satisfaction of tax withholding).

Other Restrictions

The RSUs shall be subject to the requirement that, if at any time the Committee shall determine that (i) the listing, registration or qualification of the shares of
Common Stock subject or related thereto upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or (ii) the consent or approval of any government
regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the delivery of shares, then in any such event, the award of RSUs shall not
be effective unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the
Committee.

Conflicts and Interpretation

In the event of any conflict between these Terms and Conditions and the 2008 Plan, the 2008 Plan shall control; provided, that an action or provision that is
permissive under the terms of the 2008 Plan, and required under these Terms and Conditions, shall not be deemed a conflict and these Terms and Conditions
shall control. In the event of any ambiguity in these Terms and Conditions, or any matters as to which these Terms and Conditions are silent, the 2008 Plan
shall govern. In the event of (i) any conflict between the Award Notice (or any information posted on Tree.com's intranet or given to you directly or indirectly
through the Agent (including information posted on https://www.benefitaccess.com) and Tree.com's books and records, or (ii) ambiguity in the Award Notice
(or any information posted on Tree.com's intranet or given to you directly or indirectly through the Agent (including information posted on
https://www.benefitaccess.com), Tree.com's books and records shall control.

Amendment

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms of your RSUs, prospectively or retroactively, but no such modification, amendment or waiver shall
materially impair your rights without your consent, except as required by applicable law, NASDAQ or stock exchange rules, tax rules or accounting rules.

Data Protection

The acceptance of your RSUs constitutes your authorization of the release from time to time to Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates and to the
Agent (together, the "Relevant Companies") of any and all personal or professional data that is necessary or desirable for the administration of your RSUs
and/or the 2008 Plan (the "Relevant Information"). Without limiting the above, this authorization permits your employing company to collect, process,
register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information (including any professional and personal data that may be useful or necessary for the
purposes of the administration of your RSUs and/or the 2008 Plan and/or to implement or structure any further grants of equity awards (if any)). The
acceptance of your RSUs also constitutes your authorization of the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction in which Tree.com, your
employing company or the Agent considers appropriate. You shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information, which will only be used
in accordance with applicable law.

Sections 409A, 280G and 4999 of the Code

Your Award is not intended to constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and related rules and
regulations ("Section 409A"). In no event shall Tree.com be required to pay you any "gross-up" or other payment with respect to any taxes or penalties
imposed under Section 409A (or Code Section 280G or 4999) with respect to any amounts or benefits paid to you in respect of your Award.

Notification of Changes

Any changes to these Terms and Conditions shall either be posted on Tree.com's intranet or communicated (either directly by Tree.com or indirectly through
any of its Subsidiaries, Affiliates or the Agent) to you electronically via e-mail (or otherwise in writing) after such change becomes effective.



Exhibit 10.4

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

Important Note: You must login to your account to obtain other important information concerning this Award, such as a copy of the Tree.com 2008
Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time up to the date of this Award and the Terms and
Conditions for Restricted Stock Awards. Additional copies of these documents are also available on the MyEquity page of the Company intranet or
upon request from your Human Resources Department.

This Restricted Stock Award Agreement (the "Agreement") is made between Tree.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Tree.com"), and [NAME]. The Grant
Date for the Restricted Shares awarded under this Agreement is [DATE].

Tree.com sponsors the Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time up to the date of this
Award (the "2008 Plan"). This Agreement represents an award of Shares of Restricted Stock under the 2008 Plan. All capitalized terms used herein, to the
extent not defined, shall have the same meaning as set forth in the 2008 Plan.

The Shares of Restricted Stock covered by this Agreement are being awarded subject to the following terms and provisions:

1.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2008 Plan and this Agreement, Tree.com awards to you [NUMBER] Shares of Restricted Stock (the
"Restricted Shares").

In order for all or any portion of the Restricted Shares to vest, you must be continuously employed by Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates) to the vesting date on which the applicable performance conditions are met, as described in Section 3. The actual number of Restricted
Shares that vest will be determined based on the extent to which the performance conditions described in Section 3 are met. Nothing in this
Agreement or the 2008 Plan shall confer upon you any right to continue in the employ or service of Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates)
or interfere in any way with their rights to terminate your employment or service at any time, [subject to the terms of [EMPLOYMENT
AGREEMENT]].

You will earn and become vested in the Restricted Shares in accordance with the conditions of this Section 3. Until they become vested, the
Restricted Shares shall be subject to cancellation and forfeiture in accordance with Section 5 below. Until vested, you may not sell, transfer, pledge,
assign or otherwise alienate or hypothecate the Restricted Shares (such period during which restrictions apply is the "Restriction Period"). Subject to
the Performance Goals set forth below, the Restricted Shares shall vest as follows:

(a) If Tree.com's EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal year, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vested on [DATE] if you have
been in continuous employment or service with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to that date.

(b) If Tree.com's EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal year, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vested on [DATE] if you have
been in continuous employment or service with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to that date.

(0) If Tree.com's EBITDA is $[XXX] or more for the [YEAR] fiscal year, [XXX] Restricted Shares will become vested on [DATE] if you have
been in continuous employment or service with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to that date.

(d) If Tree.com's EBITDA is less than $[XXX] for either the [YEAR] or the [YEAR] fiscal year, but Tree.com's cumulative EBITDA is
$[XXX] or more that fiscal year and the immediately following fiscal year (the "Second Fiscal Year"), [XXX] Restricted Shares will
become vested on the [MONTH, DAY] immediately following the Second Fiscal Year if you have been in continuous employment or
service with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to that date.

(e) If Tree.com's EBITDA did not equal or exceed $[XXX] for either the [YEAR] or the [YEAR] fiscal year, but its camulative EBITDA for
the [YEAR] through [YEAR] fiscal year period was $[XXX] or more, all [NUMBER] Restricted Shares will become vested on [DATE] if
you have been in continuous employment or service with Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates) to that date.



Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Change in Control while you are still employed by Tree.com (or any of its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates), [XXX]% of the then-outstanding unvested Restricted Shares subject to this Award shall vest upon the occurrence of such Change in
Control.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event you experience a Termination of Employment due to your death or Disability, then all of the
then-outstanding unvested Restricted Shares subject to this Award shall vest upon such Termination of Employment.

Any cash dividends declared on the Shares shall be held subject to the vesting of the underlying Restricted Shares in accordance with this Section
(and shall be paid only if and when such vesting conditions are satisfied), and subject to any adjustment pursuant to Section 3(d) of the 2008 Plan,
dividends payable in Shares shall be paid in the form of Restricted Shares and shall be similarly held subject to the vesting of the underlying
Restricted Shares in accordance with this Section.

You agree that you shall comply with (or provide adequate assurance as to future compliance with) all applicable securities laws and income tax laws
as determined by Tree.com with respect to your receipt of the Restricted Shares. In addition, you agree that, upon request, you will furnish a letter
agreement providing that (a) you will not distribute or resell any of said shares in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (b) you will
indemnify and hold Tree.com harmless against all liability for any such violation and (c) you will accept all liability for any such violation. You
expressly acknowledge and agree to be bound by Section 14(0) of the 2008 Plan, which contains provisions addressing the Company's policy on
recoupment of equity or other compensation.

You represent and warrant that you understand the federal, state and local income tax consequences of the granting of Restricted Shares. Under
Section 83 of the Code, the Fair Market Value of the Restricted Shares on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to such Restricted Shares
lapse will be reportable as ordinary income at that time. You may voluntarily elect to be taxed at the time the Restricted Shares are acquired to the
extent that the Fair Market Value of the Restricted Shares exceeds the amount of consideration paid by you (if any) for such Restricted Shares at that
time rather than when such Restricted Shares cease to be subject to such forfeiture restrictions, by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the Code
with the Internal Revenue Service within thirty (30) days after the Grant Date. YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT IT IS YOUR SOLE
RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT TREE.COM'S, TO FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER CODE SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF YOU REQUEST
TREE.COM OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON YOUR BEHALF. MOREOVER, YOU ARE RELYING SOLELY ON
YOUR OWN ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE DECISION AS TO WHETHER OR NOT TO FILE A CODE SECTION 83(b) ELECTION.

You acknowledge and agree that upon your ceasing to be employed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during the Restriction Period
all then outstanding unvested Restricted Shares subject to this Award will be canceled and forfeited without consideration and returned to Tree.com
upon your Termination of Employment. For the avoidance of doubt, transfers of employment among Tree.com and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates,
without any break in service, is not a Termination of Employment. In order to facilitate the transfer to Tree.com of any Shares pursuant to the terms
hereof and as a condition of this Award, you shall timely execute the enclosed stock power (Assignment Separate from Certificate). The stock power
may be used by Tree.com to transfer any unvested Shares to Tree.com in accordance with this Section. You further hereby irrevocably appoint
(which appointment is coupled with an interest) Tree.com as your agent and attorney-in-fact to take any necessary or appropriate action to cause
Shares to be returned to Tree.com in accordance with this Section, including without limitation executing and delivering stock powers and
instruments of transfer, making endorsements and/or making, initiating or issuing instructions or entitlement orders, all in your name and on your
behalf. Without limiting the foregoing, you expressly acknowledge and agree that any transfer agent for the Shares is fully authorized and protected
in relying on, and shall incur no liability in acting on, any documents, instruments, endorsements, instructions, orders or communications from
Tree.com in connection with the Shares or the transfer thereof, and that any such transfer agent is a third party beneficiary of this Agreement.

In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and the 2008 Plan, the 2008 Plan shall control; provided, that an action or provision that is
permissive under the terms of the 2008 Plan, and required under this Agreement, shall not be deemed a conflict and this Agreement shall control. In
the event of any ambiguity in this Agreement, or any matters as to which this Agreement are silent, the 2008 Plan shall govern.

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms of your Restricted Shares, prospectively or retroactively, but no such modification, amendment or
waiver shall materially impair your rights without your consent, except as required by applicable law, NASDAQ or stock exchange rules, tax rules or
accounting rules.



10.

11.

Your acceptance of the Restricted Shares constitutes your authorization of the release from time to time to Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or
Affiliates and to the Agent (together, the "Relevant Companies") of any and all personal or professional data that is necessary or desirable for the
administration of your Restricted Shares and/or the 2008 Plan (the "Relevant Information"). Without limiting the above, this authorization permits
your employing company to collect, process, register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information (including any professional
and personal data that may be useful or necessary for the purposes of the administration of the Restricted Shares and/or the 2008 Plan and/or to
implement or structure any further grants of equity awards (if any)). The acceptance of the Restricted Shares also constitutes your authorization of
the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction in which Tree.com, your employing company or the Agent considers appropriate. You
shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information, which will only be used in accordance with applicable law.

Your Award is not intended to constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and the rules and
regulations issued thereunder ("Section 409A"). In no event shall Tree.com be required to pay you any "gross-up" or other payment with respect to
any taxes or penalties imposed under Section 409A or Code Sections 280G or 4999 with respect to any amounts or benefits paid to you in respect of
your Award.

In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining
parts of the Agreement, and the Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included. This
Agreement and the 2008 Plan, constitutes the final understanding between you and Tree.com regarding the Restricted Shares. Any prior agreements,
commitments or negotiations concerning the Restricted Shares are superseded.

Any certificate(s) for the Restricted Shares may, in the discretion of Tree.com, be deposited in escrow with the Secretary of Tree.com (or his/her
designee) to be held until vesting. No stock certificates evidencing Shares free from a restrictive legend shall be delivered to you until you have paid
to Tree.com the amount that must be withheld with respect to those Shares under federal, state and local income and employment tax laws (the
"Applicable Withholding Taxes") or you and Tree.com have made arrangements that are agreed to in writing by Tree.com for the payment of such
taxes. Unless you inform Tree.com in writing before the applicable date of vesting that you will timely pay the Applicable Withholding Taxes
amount then due with cash, Tree.com shall automatically retain that number of Shares (valued at their Fair Market Value as of the applicable date of
vesting of the Restricted Shares) that would satisfy the Applicable Withholding Taxes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, Tree.com has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, and you have hereunto set your hand, all
effective as of the Grant Date listed above. By signing below, you are also acknowledging receipt of copies of the 2008 Plan and the 2008 Plan's prospectus.

TREE.COM, INC.
By:
Title:

[NAME]



ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE
(Stock Power)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned does hereby assign and transfer unto

Name:

Address:

Social Security or
Taxpayer Identification Number:

shares of the Stock of
represented by Certificate No(s).
herewith, standing in the name of the undersigned, and does hereby appoint

attorney, with full power of substitution, to transfer said shares on the books of said corporation.

Signature:

Date:

[NAME]



Exhibit 10.5

Notice of [YEAR] Stock Option Award Granted Under the
Tree.com, Inc. 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan

Important Note: You must login to your account to obtain other important information concerning this Award, such as a copy of the Tree.com 2008
Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time up to the date of this Award (the "2008 Plan") and
the Terms and Conditions for Restricted Stock Unit Awards (the "Terms and Conditions"). Additional copies of these documents are also available
on the MyEquity page of the Company intranet or upon request from your Human Resources Department. You acknowledge that you have received
copies of the 2008 Plan and the 2008 Plan's prospectus.

Award Recipient:

[YEAR] Stock Option Award: Under the 2008 Plan:

You have been awarded a nonqualified option to acquire xxx Shares of Tree.com common stock at an
"Exercise Price" of $xxx per Share ("Stock Option");

Award Date: ,201_

Vesting Schedule: Subject to your continued employment with Tree.com or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, your Stock Option
shall, subject to the provisions of the 2008 Plan, vest and no longer be subject to any vesting
restriction in three equal annual installments (rounded to nearest whole number) on each of the first
three anniversaries of your Award Date, beginning [DATE].

Expiration Date: Once vested, your Stock Option will expire upon the earlier of (i) the expiration of the 12-month period
following your Termination of Employment for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, (ii)
the expiration of the one-year period following your Termination of Employment due to death, Disability or
Retirement or (iii) 10 years from your Award Date (the "Expiration Date"), except as otherwise provided in
the 2008 Plan or the attached Terms and Conditions.

If you do not exercise your vested Stock Option before the Expiration Date, your unexercised Stock Option
will be forfeited and canceled in its entirety.

Impact of a Termination of Except as otherwise provided in the 2008 Plan, and any employment agreement between you and
Employment: Tree.com, the unvested portion of this Stock Option will be forfeited without consideration and canceled in
its entirety upon your Termination of Employment.

Terms and Conditions: Capitalized terms used (but not defined) in this Award Notice shall have the meanings set forth in the 2008
Plan.

Your Stock Option is subject to the Terms and Conditions attached hereto and to the 2008 Plan, which are
posted on www.benefitaccess.com and incorporated herein by reference, and any employment agreement
between you and Tree.com. Copies of these documents are also available upon request from your Human
Resources Department. In the event of a conflict between the Terms and Conditions and this Notice, this
Notice shall control.

Without a complete review of these documents, you will not have a full understanding of all the material
terms of your Stock Option.



Terms and Conditions for Stock Option Award
Overview

These Terms and Conditions apply to the stock option (the "Award") awarded to you by Tree.com, Inc. ("Tree.com" or the "Company") pursuant to Section 5
of the Tree.com 2008 Stock and Annual Incentive Plan as the same has been amended and restated from time to time (the "2008 Plan"). You were notified of
your Award by way of an award notice (the "Award Notice"). All capitalized terms used herein, to the extent not defined, shall have the meaning as set forth

in the 2008 Plan.

Continuous Service

In order for the Award to vest, you must be continuously employed by Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during the Restriction Period (as
defined below) or as otherwise provided in the Vesting section below. Nothing in your Award Notice, these Terms and Conditions, or the 2008 Plan shall
confer upon you any right to continue in the employ or service of Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or interfere in any way with their rights to
terminate your employment or service at any time and for any or no reason.

Vesting

Subject to the Award Notice, these Terms and Conditions and the 2008 Plan, the Award shall vest and no longer be subject to satisfaction of any restriction on
the dates and subject to any applicable performance conditions (such period during which restrictions apply is the "Restriction Period") as set forth in the
Vesting Schedule section of the Award Notice.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, 100% of your then-outstanding and unvested portion of your Award shall vest upon the occurrence of a Change in Control
which occurs during your employment with Tree. Com (or any Subsidiary or Affiliate). The term "Change in Control" is defined in the 2008 Plan, and
includes certain events affecting Tree.com (not events only affecting specific businesses of Tree.com).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event you experience a Termination of Employment due to your death or Disability, then 100% of your then-
outstanding and unvested portion of your Award shall vest upon such Termination of Employment.

[Include any other specific vesting events approved by the Compensation Committee. ]

Termination of Employment

Upon your Termination of Employment with Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates during the Restriction Period for any reason, any unvested
portion of this Award shall be forfeited and canceled in its entirety without consideration effective immediately upon such Termination of Employment. The

then vested portion of this Stock Option may remain exercisable after your Termination Employment to the extent permitted under Plan section 5(i).

For the avoidance of doubt, transfers of employment among the Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, without any break in service, is not a
Termination of Employment.

Exercise

When you wish to exercise this Award, you must notify the Company by filing a "Notice of Exercise" in the form prescribed by Tree.com at the address given
on the form. Your notice must specify how many Shares you wish to purchase and is subject to the minimum purchase limitation set forth in Plan section 5(g).
The notice can only become effective after it is received and approved by the Company. If someone else wants to exercise this Stock Option after your death,
that person must prove to the Company's satisfaction that he or she is entitled to do so.

When you submit your Notice of Exercise, you must include payment of the aggregate Exercise Price for the Shares you are purchasing. Payment may be
made in one (or a combination) of (i) certified or bank check or (ii) to the extent approved by the Committee by any of the methods described in Plan sections

5(8)(1), 5(g)(ii), or 5(g)(iii).
Taxes and Withholding

No later than the date as of which an amount in respect of any part of this Award first becomes includable in your gross income for federal, state, local or
foreign income or employment or other tax purposes, Tree.com or its Subsidiaries and/or Affiliates



shall, unless prohibited by law, have the right to deduct any federal, state, local or foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to
such amount due to you, including deducting such amount from the delivery of Shares or cash issued upon settlement of the Award that gives rise to the
withholding requirement. In the event Shares are deducted to cover tax withholdings, the number of Shares withheld shall generally have a Fair Market Value
equal to the aggregate amount of Tree.com's withholding obligation on the date of exercise of the Stock Option. If the event that any such deduction and/or
withholding is prohibited by law, you shall, prior to or contemporaneously with the settlement of your Award, be required to pay to Tree.com, or make
arrangements satisfactory to Tree.com regarding the payment of, any federal, state, local or foreign taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with
respect to such amount. To the extent approved by the Committee, you may satisfy the applicable tax withholding amounts as permitted under Plan section
14(d).

Non-Transferability of the Award

Your Award shall not be transferable by you by means of sale, assignment, exchange, encumbrance, pledge, hedge or otherwise except as may be permitted
under Plan section 5(j).

No Rights as a Stockholder

Until your Award is exercised and settled with Shares, you shall not be entitled to any rights of a stockholder with respect to the Award (including the right to
vote the underlying Shares or receive dividends). Moreover, if Tree.com declares and pays dividends on the Common Stock during the Restriction Period, this
Award will not be credited with any dividends.

Other Restrictions

The Award shall be subject to the requirement that, if at any time the Committee shall determine that (i) the listing, registration or qualification of the Shares
of Common Stock subject or related thereto upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or (ii) the consent or approval of any government
regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the delivery of Shares, then in any such event, the Award and/or any
issuance of Shares under the Award shall not be effective unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or
obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Committee.

Conflicts and Interpretation

In the event of any conflict between these Terms and Conditions and the 2008 Plan, the 2008 Plan shall control; provided, that an action or provision that is
permissive under the terms of the 2008 Plan, and required under these Terms and Conditions, shall not be deemed a conflict and these Terms and Conditions
shall control. In the event of any ambiguity in these Terms and Conditions, or any matters as to which these Terms and Conditions are silent, the 2008 Plan
shall govern. In the event of (i) any conflict between the Award Notice (or any information posted on Tree.com's intranet or given to you directly or indirectly
through the Agent (including information posted on https://www.benefitaccess.com) and Tree.com's books and records, or (ii) ambiguity in the Award Notice
(or any information posted on Tree.com's intranet or given to you directly or indirectly through the Agent (including information posted on
https://www.benefitaccess.com), Tree.com's books and records shall control.

Amendment

Tree.com may modify, amend or waive the terms of your Awards, prospectively or retroactively, but no such modification, amendment or waiver shall
materially impair your rights without your consent, except as required by applicable law, NASDAQ or stock exchange rules, tax rules or accounting rules.

Data Protection

The acceptance of your Award constitutes your authorization of the release from time to time to Tree.com or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates and to the
Agent (together, the "Relevant Companies") of any and all personal or professional data that is necessary or desirable for the administration of your Award
and/or the 2008 Plan (the "Relevant Information"). Without limiting the above, this authorization permits your employing company to collect, process,
register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information (including any professional and personal data that may be useful or necessary for the
purposes of the administration of your Award and/or the 2008 Plan and/or to implement or structure any further grants of equity awards (if any)). The
acceptance of your Award also constitutes your authorization of the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction in which Tree.com, your
employing company or the Agent considers appropriate. You shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information, which will only be used
in accordance with applicable law.



Sections 409A, 280G and 4999 of the Code

Your Award is not intended to constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and related rules and
regulations ("Section 409A"). In no event shall Tree.com be required to pay you any "gross-up" or other payment with respect to any taxes or penalties
imposed under Section 409A (or Code Section 280G or 4999) with respect to any amounts or benefits paid to you in respect of your Award.

Notification of Changes

Any changes to these Terms and Conditions shall either be posted on Tree.com's intranet or communicated (either directly by Tree.com or indirectly through
any of its Subsidiaries, Affiliates or the Agent) to you electronically via e-mail (or otherwise in writing) after such change becomes effective.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2014 of Tree.com, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2014

/s/ Douglas R. Lebda
Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Alexander Mandel, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2014 of Tree.com, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 2014

/s/ Alexander Mandel
Alexander Mandel
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2014 of Tree.com, Inc. (the “Report”) which this statement accompanies fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tree.com, Inc.
Date: May 7, 2014
/s/ Douglas R. Lebda

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alexander Mandel, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2014 of Tree.com, Inc. (the “Report”) which this statement accompanies fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tree.com, Inc.
Date: May 7, 2014
/s/ Alexander Mandel
Alexander Mandel
Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)




